


Annual Shareholder Meeting

Chairman David Kirk will kick this off at 4pm on Wednesday 
30 October 2013 at Mac’s Function Centre, 4 Taranaki Street, 
Wellington (www.macsfunctioncentre.co.nz).

The notice of meeting and agenda will be mailed to 
shareholders by 1 October 2013.

This report is dated 12 September 2013 and is signed 

on behalf of the Board of directors of Trade Me Group by:

David Kirk Joanna Perry 
Chairman Director

For more investor information about Trade Me Group, 

please visit the Trade Me investor relations website at 
investors.trademe.co.nz

2013 Annual shareholder 
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 TRADE ME GROUP ANNUAL REPORT 2013 1

Jargon buster 2

Highlights 3

The year in review 14

Chairman’s report 16

CEO’s report 20

Executive team profiles 24   

The Trade Me values 26

Directors’ report 29

Director profiles 30

Disclosures 32

Financial statements 47

Directory 82

2013 highlights:

Financial statements:

Chairman’s report:

Directory:

CEO’s report:

Directors’ report:

3

47 82

16 20

29

5 big things 
from F13

our important 
financial information

a letter from 
David Kirk

our websites 
& other info

the rundown from 
Jon Macdonald

Board profiles, 
governance and 
disclosures

Table of contents



222

ASX Australian Securities Exchange

EBITDA Probably the best accounting acronym, and means earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and 
amortisation

F12 The financial year for the 12 months to 30 June 2012

F13 The financial year for the 12 months to 30 June 2013

F14 The financial year for the 12 months to 30 June 2014

Fairfax Media Fairfax Media Ltd, the ASX-listed Australian company that used to own a stake in Trade Me

IPO An “initial public offering” is selling shares in a company to the public

Jargon Technical words and acronyms that drive readers crazy and often need explaining

Kevin The kiwi who stars in the Trade Me logo and famously dresses up on the homepage in various guises

NetHui An annual conference for people in and around the internet in NZ

NPAT Net profit after tax

NZX New Zealand Stock Exchange

TME Trade Me’s stock ticker

Trade Me In this report, this refers to the company called Trade Me Group Limited, as opposed to the marketplace 
website called www.trademe.co.nz 

WDCNZ An annual conference for web developers

Webstock An annual conference for everyone interested in the web

JARGON BUSTER

Jargon buster
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Revenue of $164.1m (up 15% on F12)

EBITDA of $123.5m (up 12% on F12)

Net profit after tax of $78.6m (up 4% on F12)

Earnings per share of 19.8 cents 
(up from 19.1 cents in F12)

Dividends of 7.5c per share paid in March 
& 8.3c per share to be paid in September

A good 
financial 
year 

Highlight 1 | 2013
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Chairman David Kirk described the result 
as “solid and satisfying”, and excellent news 
for our 6,648 shareholders who will receive 
another strong final dividend of 8.3 cents per 
share in September 2013, up from the 7.8 cents 
per share a year ago.

As with F12, there were no big surprises with 
all our businesses performing broadly as 

expected. The core marketplace landed below 
our expectations, the Classifieds were strong, 
and our reinvigorated online dating business 
FindSomeone had another good year.

At a corporate level, Fairfax Media sold its 
51 per cent stake in Trade Me in December 2012. 
This had no impact on day-to-day operations at 
Trade Me.

We grew revenue and earnings before interest, tax, 
depreciation and amortisation at a double-digit rate in 
F13, while net profit after tax was up 4 per cent on last 
year to a new record high of $78.6m.
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Revenue up 29 per cent on F12

Classified 
strength 

Highlight 2 | 2013
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Trade Me Motors, Trade Me Property and 
Trade Me Jobs delivered a strong performance 
in F13 with revenue coming in 29 per cent 
ahead of last year.

Stable listing volumes and some yield increases 
have played a part here, and we’ve also been 
pleased to see enthusiastic take-up of our 
premium products like the “super-feature” 
promotional option in Property and Motors. 
We see product investment as a road to 
continued growth here.

The other factor at play emerged off the back 
of our acquisition of the AutoBase vehicle 
listing aggregator in April 2012, with a full year 
of revenue from this business flowing through 
in this year’s numbers.

Our trio of classified advertising businesses led the way 
on the growth front in F13.
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More than 13 million items sold on Trade Me in F13

We’re buying 
& selling too 

Highlight 3 | 2013
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LifeDirect is our latest acquisition, announced 
in August 2013. It is an online comparison 
website for life and health insurance. 
We’re excited about its model of providing 
consumers with a single venue to compare 
insurance products and we think it will be  
an excellent fit for Trade Me’s community.

Holiday Homes is a Richmond-based 
accommodation website that provides a 
directory of holiday homes, baches, cribs, 
and activities. It joined our existing portfolio 
of travel businesses in December 2012.

Tradevine is a cloud-based inventory 
management tool that makes it easier for 
retailers to sell online, and particularly on 
Trade Me. We purchased this business in 
August 2012 and the Tradevine team is now 
all tucked up in our Christchurch office.

We divested our group-buying website 
Treat Me in April 2013 via a management 
buy-out led by James MacAvoy who was 
running the business for us at the time.

We’ve acquired three new businesses and sold our 
group-buying website.
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More than 40 per cent of all visits to Trade Me are now 
from a mobile device

Upwardly 
mobile 

Highlight 4 | 2013
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This year we’ve extended our presence 
across multiple platforms including an iPad 
app for Trade Me that zeroes in on delivering 
a better experience for Trade Me buyers, 
dedicated iPhone and iPad real estate apps 
for Trade Me Property that make extensive 
use of map functionality, and meaty upgrades 
for our Trade Me iPhone and Android apps.

Given the continued growth in mobile 
commerce, we plan to keep ramping up our 
resources and bolstering our product set 
around mobile. Our to do list sets out plenty of 
opportunities for us to capitalise on.

The number of visits to Trade Me from smartphones 
and tablets continues to grow, and we expect this to 
continue throughout F14.
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We now have 316 staff in Auckland, Wellington 
and Christchurch

Trade Me 
HQ

Highlight 5 | 2013
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Our expenses were up 13 per cent on F12, 
primarily driven by a 15 per cent growth in 
staff numbers. 

We have offices in Auckland, Wellington and 
Christchurch. The Wellington team is looking 
forward to a move into the new offices under 
construction at One Market Lane. We recently 
buried a time capsule in the new building’s 
foundations and “the big move” remains on 
track for the middle of 2014.

We’re committed to supporting the community, 
particularly where we can leverage what 
we are good at to help out. We have strong 
relationships in place with Plunket, Kiwis for 
kiwi, KidsCan and The Starship Foundation 
but we’ve also assisted hundreds of other 
not-for-profits and charities with their 
fundraising efforts over the year.

Employing great people was the key contributor to 
our increase in expenses in F13.
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2012

DecemberNovemberOctoberSeptemberAugustJuly

The year in review

Iconic Kiwi fashion 
brands Hallensteins 
and Glassons open 
their Trade Me Stores

Trade Me Property app 
for iPad released

F12 financial 
results released 
and Trade Me hits 
prospectus forecasts

We acquire cloud-
based inventory 
management tool 
Tradevine

Starship Spring Clean 
campaign goes live, 
raising money for the 
Starship Foundation

The Trade Me 
homepage  
is refreshed

The Trust & Safety 
blog is launched: 
first post “Cell 
phone non delivery”

The image slideshow 
AutoReel feature 
is launched by 
Trade Me Motors

Tech entrepreneur, 
investor and 
consultant 
Paul McCarney 
joins the board

Our visual search 
experiment for 
Trade Me, rummage 
.co.nz is unveiled

Fairfax Media sells 
its entire 51% stake 
in Trade Me 

Fairfax Media CEO 
Greg Hywood resigns 
as a director

We acquire 
accommodation 
website Holiday 
Homes

Our staff complete a 
soggy run in Santa 
suits to raise money 
for KidsCan

Two sisters put their 
middle names up 
for auction, with the 
money going to their 
best friend for her 
battle against cancer.

Ever wanted 
to Rename 
Two Sisters?

#2 MOST VIEWED F13

VIEWS: 221,794 
SOLD FOR: $3,520

LISTING NO: 500,000,000 
VIEWS: 17,847 
SOLD FOR: $107

Britney Spears 
DVD – Star Baby 
Scrapbook

Seti Tafua was seriously 
injured during club 
rugby, so Meghan and 
friends found ways to 
raise money for his 
treatment.

Win a date with 
Meghan Mutrie 

VIEWS: 89,912 
SOLD FOR: $2,019 Renovated house from 

reality TV show ‘The 
Block’. This house 
won best kitchen, 
master bedroom and 
bathroom.

The Best Home 
on the Block!

VIEWS: 57,679

Have you ever wanted 
to gnaw someone’s 
hand off? Feeling a bit 
peckish lately? Then 
being a Zombie is the 
job for you!

Casting call – are you 
NZ’s Next Top 
Zombie?

MOST VIEWED 
JOB LISTING F13

VIEWS: 61,599

Radio Network 
Implosion

‘Push the button’ 
to detonate an 
earthquake-damaged  
building, with money 
going to charity.

#1 MOST VIEWED F13 

VIEWS: 459,420 
SOLD FOR: $26,000
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2013

January February March April May June

We launch a new way 
to sell multiple items 
via a single listing

TME was added to the 
NZX 10 Index

Company secretary 
Sarah Hard joins the 
Trade Me executive 
team

33% of all visits to 
Trade Me now, from 
a mobile device

The sale of group-
buying website 
Treat Me is announced

Top Seller Savebarn 
became the first 
Trade Me trader 
to reach 90,000 
feedback. Savebarn 
sells pretty much 
everything under 
the sun and has been 
a member since 
September 2005.

Our Trust & Safety 
team played a key 
role in uncovering a 
huge shill bidding 
operation by vehicle 
trader The Auto Co. 
More than $100,000 
was recovered and 
refunded to members, 
and the Commerce 
Commission imposed 
a $42,000 fine.

Trade Me Jobs 
launches its 
“Opportunities 
Galore”advertising 
campaign

Kiwi singles clock up 
11 million messages 
on FindSomeone in F13, 
up 39% on a year ago

Travelbug ticks past 
$23 million total in 
bookings

43” Toshiba 
Television

#3 MOST VIEWED F13

VIEWS: 174,713 
SOLD FOR: $325

This TV provided “pure 
and unrelenting audio-
visual entertainment” 
for 3 years. Said to gain 
compliments like “Gee 
whiz that’s a big TV, bro!”

MOST VIEWED 
PROPERTY LISTING 
IN F13 

VIEWS: 65,379

A classic four-rack fish 
smoker and filleting 
bench for sale, with 
a great little family 
bach and big-as deck 
thrown in.

Matt’s Bach Name the 
World’s 
Biggest Spider!

VIEWS: 45,745 
SOLD FOR: $565

Wellington Zoo’s 
new arachnid 
arrival – a ‘Goliath 
Birdeater – needed a 
name after 6 years of 
being known as “Crikey 
she’s a big ‘un!”.

ipod touch 
4g case

LISTING NO: 600,000,000 
VIEWS: 6,045 
SOLD FOR: $107

w jelly bean button

St Matthews in the City 
presented for sale the 
billboard displayed 
outside their church.

Same Sex 
Marriage 
Original 
Billboard skin

VIEWS: 121,795 
SOLD FOR: $401A replica of the 1966 

version of Batman’s 
famous set of wheels. 
Made of fibreglass and 
mounted on a 1972 
Chevy Caprice chassis.

1966 
Batmobile

VIEWS: 51,416 
SOLD FOR: asking price 
$30,000
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Chairman’s report

Letter to Trade Me 
shareholders
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Dear Shareholders,

My central aim in writing to you is to provide you with 
the information I would wish to receive from you if 
our positions were reversed.
The information I would like from the chairman of a business I owned a part of would be a clear and simple report 
on the financial performance of the business in the preceding year. I would also like to be directed to the numbers 
that most reflect the change in value of my share in the business, an update on any important changes to company 
strategy or personnel, and an unvarnished assessment of the prospects of the company in the year ahead.

This is what I will aim to do in this brief letter.

Performance in F13

Trade Me performed well in the year to 30 June 2013. An important number to focus on in assessing the 
performance of the company from year to year is the growth in net profit after tax (NPAT). This is the ‘after 
everything’ earnings number. It is the number we arrive at after the normal cash costs of doing business, 
depreciation expense, one-off gains/losses, interest payments and tax are all deducted from our revenue.

The net profit after tax is important to you because these are the earnings that enable us to pay dividends and  
retain what is not paid out to help fund future investment and growth.

However, because the net profit after tax is the ‘after everything’ number there are likely to be inconsistencies 
that need to be explained for you to properly compare the performance of the company from one year to the next.

In F13 our NPAT grew to $78.6m, a record for the company and an increase of 4 per cent on our NPAT of $75.6m 
in F12. It is always satisfying to set records but, at face value, growth in net profit of 4 per cent is not high for 
Trade Me given the businesses we are in and our market positions.

Fortunately this 4 per cent growth in net profit does not reflect the underlying growth of the operating business. 
There are a number of ‘one-offs’ to take into account.

In F12, we had a one-off gain of $3.3m from the disposal of a business. The one-off gains in F13 were 0.9m. 
In F12, we also had just 6½ months of interest expense on the debt we took on when the company was listed in 
December 2011. As a consequence, interest costs were $3.1m greater in F13 than in F12.

Although not a one-off, our depreciation expense also grew considerably in F13, from $5.2m to $8.7m as we have 
invested more in product development, some of which is capitalised in our accounts. We expect our depreciation 
expense line to increase as we invest, acquire and grow.

Aside from NPAT, other important indications of our financial performance and growth in net worth are revenue 
growth which was up 15 per cent in F13 and earnings before interest and tax excluding the one-off gains  
referred to above which was up 12 per cent in F13.

All in all, F13 was a year of solid and satisfying financial performance and we look forward to continuing this 
in the future.

Letter to Trade Me 
shareholders
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People

Elsewhere in this report, Trade Me CEO Jon Macdonald will tell you more about the operating performance of 
Trade Me in F13, what his team are focused on, and how they are going.

Jon is doing a wonderful job for the company and we take this opportunity to thank him and his team on 
your behalf for all their work growing and developing Trade Me.

There were two changes to the Board in F13. Greg Hywood resigned on 21 December 2012 to concentrate on his 
duties as chief executive of Fairfax Media. Four days earlier, Fairfax Media completed the sale of its 51 per cent stake in 
Trade Me to a range of institutional investors. Greg was an engaged and thoughtful director and we thank him for his 
work with us and wish him well in the future.

In November 2012, Paul McCarney joined Trade Me as an independent director. You can read about Paul in the short 
biography in the directors’ report. He has an excellent mix of experience and knowledge that is complementary to that 
of the existing directors. He has experience with a diverse set of relevant internet and mobile business models. Paul has 
made an excellent contribution to the Board in the 10 months he has been with us.

Prospects

You will have noticed Trade Me’s two large reporting segments – General Items and Classifieds – are growing at 
markedly different rates. Revenue growth in the General Items ecommerce marketplace was 5 per cent in F13 while 
revenue growth in Classifieds was 29 per cent in the year. This difference in relative growth is a trend we have seen  
for some time and reflects the relative maturity of the two businesses.

We expect to see consistent strong growth from our classifieds’ businesses as these continue to benefit from the 
structural change in favour of online classified advertising spend in jobs, homes and cars.

Our marketplace business, which as you will know began as a used goods auction business, is now large and 
quite mature. In order to grow this business more quickly, we need to build a successful new goods ecommerce 
marketplace as well as maintain our success in second-hand goods. We think we have a good chance of succeeding 
in this and Jon and his team are working very hard on this front. However, as with most things in life, there is no 
guarantee we will be successful. Note too that should we be successful, the profit margins in the new goods 
ecommerce business will not be as high as we have achieved in the past through our used goods marketplace. 
We will keep you posted on our progress with new goods.

The third reporting segment, accurately but unimaginatively entitled ‘Other’, includes our dating business and, 
our Travel businesses. We believe we have good opportunities to grow this segment and hope to at least maintain 
the 11 per cent revenue growth achieved in 2013.

Dividends

This year we are paying out approximately 80 per cent of our net profit after tax in dividends. 
The final dividend for 2013 of 8.3 cents per share will be payable to shareholders on our register as at 
13 September 2013 and the dividend is expected to be paid on 24 September 2013. This follows on from 
the interim dividend of 7.5 cents per share paid to shareholders on 26 March 2013.

Thank you for your investment in Trade Me. We understand that you have placed your trust in us and expect to 
see the value of your investment increase over time. That is what we are focused on doing for you.

Our Annual shareholder meeting this year is in Wellington on 30 October 2013. I look forward to seeing as many 
of you as are able to make it.

Yours sincerely,

David Kirk

Chairman 
Trade Me Group Limited

CHAIRMAN’S REPORT
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We’re pleased to 
deliver another good 
full-year result to 
Trade Me shareholders

CEO’s report

CEO’S REPORT
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We have delivered another record profit, while 
continuing to position the business for the longer 
term through ongoing product development, a 
concerted effort to extend Trade Me onto mobile 
platforms, and three small acquisitions.

The numbers

Trade Me grew NPAT by 4 per cent year-on-year. Note 
that this figure is lower than in previous years due to the 
lift in interest costs we have incurred since IPO and a 
one-off gain in F12.

Our EBITDA was up 12 per cent compared to F12 and 
our revenue was up 15 per cent year-on-year.

Resulting earnings per share increased from 19.1 to 
19.8 cents per share.

We intend to pay a final dividend of 8.3 cents per share 
to shareholders on Tuesday, 24 September 2013.

Operating performance

The performance of the business has been broadly 
as we expected, and in line with the guidance we 
provided when our half-year results emerged back 
in February.

The General Items performance has been 
underwhelming, with softer activity than we’d have 
liked and muted revenue growth of 5 per cent year- 
on-year. We are confident we can deliver on our 
ambitions for Trade Me on the new goods front, 
despite a slower return on effort than we’d hoped. 
We have a clear path forward that will require doses 
of patience and lots of good execution. We remain 
optimistic about our growth prospects here.

The Classifieds businesses   put in a strong performance 
during the year, with revenue growth of 29 per cent 
year-on-year. We believe there have been several 
contributors to this including stable volumes (in fact 
better than anticipated volumes for Trade Me Jobs), 
good uptake in premium promotional products, and 
some yield increases. We also enjoyed the revenue 
benefit of 12 months’ activity from AutoBase, the 
vehicle listing aggregator we acquired in April 2012.

In our Other segment, revenue grew 11 per cent year-
on-year. We sold Treat Me in April 2013 which reduced 
our revenue (and also our expenses). Elsewhere, 
we recorded an excellent performance from our 
online dating business FindSomeone, and our travel 

businesses (Travelbug, Holiday Houses, BookIt) 
performed as expected.

Our expenses were up 13 per cent year-on-year. 
This was primarily people costs as we continue to 
grow our team to ensure we speed up our product 
development and convert on the opportunities in 
front of us.

Acquisitions and divestments

We’ve acquired LifeDirect, an online insurance 
comparison website. We are excited about this for 
three reasons:

 • We believe the model of providing consumers 
with a single venue to compare insurance 
products easily and efficiently is sound, and fits 
well with Trade Me’s core purpose of connecting 
two parties to undertake a transaction or form a 
relationship;

 • We think LifeDirect is a business that is well-run, 
high quality and has excellent prospects;

 • We believe Trade Me can add a lot of value to 
LifeDirect as a great source of new customers 
via our overall audience and visibility into 
life-changing events through our core business.

We also completed the acquisitions of Tradevine (an 
inventory management tool that makes it easier for 
retailers to sell online and especially on Trade Me) in 
August 2012, and then Holiday Homes (a holiday rental 
accommodation website) in December 2012. Both 
acquisitions have been successfully integrated into 
our wider business and are performing well.

As noted above, we divested our group-buying 
website Treat Me earlier this year via a management 
buy-out. We felt the business was unlikely to get the 
attention it needed given the other opportunities we 
have in front of us, and we regard the prospects of 
the group-buying industry in New Zealand as uncertain. 
We’re heartened to see that business continue to do 
well under its new owners.
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Mobile

Over 40 per cent of all visits to Trade Me are now from 
smartphones and tablets, and we expect the strong 
growth of mobile to continue.

The migration of online activity to mobile devices is both 
an opportunity and a threat to us. It’s an opportunity in 
that it opens up new business models and prospects 
for us, and increases the amount of time people spend 
online. And it’s a threat in that the transition to mobile 
also provides openings to our competitors, and puts 
pressure on some of our revenue base (e.g. display 
advertising where advertisers won’t yet pay as much 
for mobile placements).

Over the course of the year, we have taken a number of 
significant steps to extend Trade Me’s presence across 
multiple platforms, including:

 • releasing an iPad app focussed on couch commerce 
and a better buying experience on Trade Me;

 • launching dedicated iPhone and iPad apps for 
Trade Me Property that make extensive use of maps;

 • tailoring the Trade Me Property iPad app to deliver 
a more luxurious “magazine style” experience that 
is impossible on a desktop or laptop computer;

 • combining our own development efforts with 
TV manufacturers to produce Trade Me apps for 
Samsung and Panasonic smart TVs;

 • substantial upgrades for our iPhone and Android 
apps, and extending our smartphone-optimised 
website.

Over the coming year we will further build out our suite 
of mobile products to capitalise on the opportunities we 
see, and defend against threats from competitors.

Our people

We’ve always strived to hire and grow the right people 
at Trade Me and F13 has been no exception. We 
now have 316 staff in our three offices in Auckland, 
Wellington and Christchurch. We value their hard work, 
energy, optimism, flexibility and creativity.

Trade Me provides staff with a focused but fun working 
environment and we were pleased to be named as a 
finalist in the 2012 edition of the Kenexa Best Workplaces 
Survey in November (and finished second equal in the 
medium-large workplace category). We were also a 
finalist in 2011, 2010 and 2008.

Progress on our new office in Wellington, at One Market 
Lane, is good and we are looking forward to the big 
move in 2014.

In terms of senior hires, our new company secretary 
Sarah Hard joined the executive team in February 2013. 
Prior to joining Trade Me, Sarah held a senior role as legal 
counsel at Fairfax Media in New Zealand.

More recently we have added senior capability to our 
General Items segment where Mike O’Donnell assumes 
a new role as chief operating officer with responsibility 
for the core marketplace.

We have continued to invest in the technology side of 
our business. Our primary intention here is to continue 
to ramp up our product development velocity to ensure 
Trade Me stays relevant and to ensure we have good 
execution around the opportunities we see in front of us.

Outlook

One of our challenges as a public company is maintaining 
the balance between delivering good financial results 
in the short-term, and at the same time positioning the 
business for sustainable long-term growth.

We are a two-speed business with good growth in 
Classifieds but short-term challenges in General Items.

In F14 we expect solid revenue and EBITDA growth, 
but these look set to reflect slower growth than we’ve 
recorded in F13 as we focus on reinvesting in the 
business. This investment is necessary to:

 • properly position our General Items business for 
growth and online retail;

 • support our Classifieds growth with product 
enhancements and marketing;

 • take advantage of new business opportunities and 
revenue lines.

We are confident about the prospects for Trade Me. 
Growth in mobile, additional products across our 
classified verticals, the migration of advertising yield 
online, the long-term opportunity in online retail, and 
new businesses (like insurance comparison) all provide 
sizeable opportunities for us over the coming years.

We’re looking forward to getting on with it.

Jon Macdonald

CEO 
Trade Me Group Limited

CEO’S REPORT
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Jon Macdonald 

Chief Executive Officer

Jon joined Trade Me in 2003 as 
head of technology, before being 
appointed general manager in 
2007 and then CEO in 2008.

Prior to joining Trade Me, he 
worked in London for HSBC 
Investment Bank in a variety 
of technical and management 
positions. He has also worked 
for Deloitte Consulting, with a 
focus on telecommunications 
and financial services. Jon has a 
Bachelor of Engineering (Hons) 
from the University of Canterbury.

In May 2013, Jon joined NZX 
Limited as a director.

Jonathan Klouwens 

Chief Financial Officer

Jonathan joined Trade Me in 
March 2012, and is responsible for 
managing Trade Me’s finance and 
analytics teams, as well as overall 
financial strategy.

Prior to joining Trade Me, he was 
the CFO at House of Travel for 
three years. He worked for Lion 
Nathan in Australia, China and 
New Zealand for 15 years, holding 
a variety of roles including NZ 
strategy director and four years 
as NZ finance director.

Jimmy McGee 

Chief Commercial Officer

Jimmy joined Trade Me in 2006, 
where he was initially responsible 
for launching Trade Me Jobs, and 
then became Head of Commercial 
in 2009. In his current role, Jimmy 
is responsible for Property, Jobs, 
Motors and Advertising.

Prior to joining Trade Me, Jimmy 
was a senior manager at eBay 
in Australia. He also worked for 
Monster.com in Australia and NZ. 
Jimmy has degrees in physical 
education and commerce from 
the University of Otago.

Mike “MOD” O’Donnell 

Chief Operating Officer

MOD joined Trade Me in 2004 
and originally managed the 
commercial team. In his current 
role he oversees Trade Me’s 
operations and the General  
Items marketplace.

Prior to joining Trade Me, MOD 
held senior roles at AMP Capital 
Investors, Gareth Morgan 
Investments, Fonterra and Forestry 
Corporation. He is a professional 
director and business columnist. 
MOD holds an Honours degree in 
political science and philosophy.

Dave Wasley

Chief Technology Officer

Dave joined Trade Me in 2007, 
where he worked as head of 
platform & operations, and then 
head of infrastructure in 2010. 
Dave is now responsible for all of 
Trade Me’s technology operations.

Prior to joining Trade Me, Dave 
was IT manager at Commercial 
Fisheries Services and also worked 
for Deloitte Consulting in various 
industries, including health and 
energy. Dave has a Bachelor of 
Economics & Information Systems 
(Hons) from Massey University.

Fiona Ireland 

Head of Human Resources  

Fiona is responsible for reward 
and recognition, training and 
development, recruitment, career 
development and our office team.

Prior to joining Trade Me in 2010, 
Fiona worked as the HR manager 
at AMS (a joint venture by Vector 
and Siemens) as well as holding 
generalist roles at Vector Ltd for 
six years.

Mike DelPrete 

Head of Strategy

Mike is responsible for developing 
a pipeline of new interesting 
ventures for Trade Me to consider, 
and co-ordinates overall corporate 
strategy.

He came to Trade Me from 
New York in 2012, where he was 
most recently CEO of Agora 
Games, a technology business 
that builds software for online 
gaming communities. He also has 
experience acting as an advisor 
to start-up companies.

Sarah Hard 

Company Secretary

Sarah joined Trade Me in 
February 2013 and is responsible 
for ensuring the business fulfils 
its regulatory obligations and 
managing the relationship between 
the company and the board. She 
also runs the legal & regulatory 
and communications & 
community teams.  

Prior to joining Trade Me, Sarah 
worked as legal counsel for Fairfax 
Media in New Zealand. She had 
earlier roles as corporate counsel 
for NZTE and as company secretary 
for Independent Newspapers. 
Sarah has a Bachelor of Laws from 
Victoria University.
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The Trade Me values

Who are we?  We are Trade Me.
We’re part of an exciting industry and we have great 
prospects. We’re a fun place to work. But regardless of 
our past successes, we understand that our future depends 
on continuing to be relevant, useful and good value to 
our members.

We’re also a commercial enterprise, and as such we need 
to provide a return to our owners. Our owners are retail 
investors (people who have bought shares) and institutional 
investors (funds of money from the public).

We make money through charging fees for our services 
and through advertising. We aim to set our fees responsibly, 
and at a sustainable level that provides great value to 
our customers. We aim to display our advertising in a 
responsible way too, minimising disruption to our users.

Our seven values

We’ve identified seven values that do a pretty good job of 
summing up what’s important to us, and who we aim to be.

THE TRADE ME VALUES
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Deliver awesome 
online experiences
Our products and services are focused on 
empowering consumers. As well as delivering 
awesomeness, we also aim to build things that 
are well-designed, easy to use, reliable and 
genuinely add value to our community.

Decide & act 
on merit
We have a healthy disregard for hierarchy in our 
decision-making. We prefer to rely on data and 
good judgment; we measure everything. We 
value fearlessness and fairness in representing a 
point of view.

Hire & grow 
great people
We work hard to hire the right people. We value 
energy, optimism, flexibility, creativity, and a 
non-serious streak. We’re informal but focussed, 
and much more interested in ideas and execution 
than the clothes people wear. We celebrate 
together when we do well.

Don’t be a dick
This means what it says. It’s all about treating 
people with respect, being responsible and 
keeping a sense of humour.

Be entrepreneurial
We are always innovating, and we like doing 
things fast. We value optimism, and we look for 
opportunities in change. We’re not afraid to try 
things and fail, as we’re more concerned with 
learning than dishing out blame.

Care about 
our community
We care about our members, our clients, our 
shareholders, and our staff. We are willing to 
empathise, listen, and engage in conversations 
(but not smother them). We are a good 
citizen, and committed to making meaningful 
contributions where we can. We like to help.

Be trusted 
& straight up
We rely on being a trusted place for people to 
visit online. We must remain authentic, honest, 
and always front up to explain our position in a 
non-robotic way. Inside the business, we trust 
our staff and we encourage them to share their 
thoughts early.
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30 DIRECTOR PROFILES

David Kirk
Independent chairman 
NON-EXECUTIVE

David is the co-founder and managing 
partner of Bailador Investment 
Management, chairman of Hoyts Group 
Limited, chairman of SMI Limited and a 
director of Forsyth Barr Limited, Online 
Ventures Pty Ltd (trading as SiteMinder) 
and Viocorp Pty Limited. He is also 
chairman of trustees of Sydney Grammar 
School, a director of the Sydney Medical 
School Foundation and FoodShare.

David was the CEO of Fairfax Media from 
2005 to 2008. He was also the CEO and 
managing director of PMP Limited from 
2003 to 2005 and the regional president 
(Australasia) for Norske Skog from 2000 
to 2003.

David has worked for Fletcher Challenge 
Paper and Fletcher Challenge Energy in 
senior executive roles in New Zealand 
and Australia from 1995 to 1999. He was 
chief policy advisor to the Prime Minister 
of NZ from 1992 to 1994 and was a 
management consultant with McKinsey & 
Company in London from 1989 to 1991.

David holds a Medical Doctorate from the 
University of Otago and a Master of Arts 
(Philosophy, Politics and Economics) 
from Oxford University. He is also a 
Rhodes Scholar.

David lives in Sydney, Australia.

Joanna Perry
Independent director 
NON-EXECUTIVE

Joanna has extensive governance 
experience and is currently the deputy 
chair of Genesis Energy. Her independent 
directorships include Kiwi Income 
Property Trust, The Co-operative Bank, 
Sport New Zealand, Partners Life and 
Rowing New Zealand.

She is also board adviser to Tainui 
Group Holdings, chairman of the 
Investment Advisory Panel of the Primary 
Growth Partnership and a member 
of the Interpretations Committee of 
the International Financial Reporting 
Standards Board.

Prior to focusing on her directorships, 
Joanna was a senior partner in the global 
audit, tax and advisory firm KPMG. She was 
a member of the Securities Commission, 
chaired the Financial Reporting Standards 
Board and was a member of the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board.

Joanna has a Master of Arts in Economics 
from Cambridge University and is a Fellow 
of the New Zealand Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in New Zealand. She is a 
Member of the New Zealand Order of 
Merit for services to accounting.

Joanna lives in Auckland, New Zealand.

Director profiles
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Gail Hambly
Non-independent director 
NON-EXECUTIVE

Gail is a senior media executive, currently 
group general counsel and company 
secretary of Fairfax Media. Her areas of 
expertise are law, corporate governance 
and internal audit and risk. She is part of 
the Fairfax management team.

Gail is chairman of Copyco Pty Limited, 
a director of Company B Belvoir Limited, 
a member of the Advisory Board of the 
Centre of Media and Communications 
Law at Melbourne University, a member 
of the Media and Communications 
and Privacy Law Committees of the 
Law Council of Australia and a director 
of the Story Factory  – a not-for-profit 
organisation which provides education 
services with a special focus on 
disadvantaged children in Sydney.

Gail holds degrees in law, science and 
economics.

She lives in Sydney, Australia.

Paul McCarney
Independent director 
NON-EXECUTIVE

Paul is a technology entrepreneur, 
investor and consultant.

He has 15 years’ experience in technology 
and digital marketing including co-
founding search marketing agency Decide 
Interactive (acquired by NASDAQ-listed 
24/7 Real Media in 2004), and founding 
digital marketing company Life Event 
Media (acquired by directory business 
Sensis in 2011).

Paul is also the non-executive director 
of BTBI TCo, which owns and operates 
B2B publisher Cirrus Media.

Paul lives in Sydney, Australia.

Sam Morgan
Non-independent director 
NON-EXECUTIVE

Sam was the founder and CEO of 
Trade Me Limited until 2008. Trade Me 
was acquired by Fairfax Media in 2006.

Sam is a director of Fairfax Media, Xero 
Limited and Visfleet Limited. He is an 
active software investor and co-founded 
Kiwi Landing Pad in San Francisco, which 
aims to help Kiwi companies succeed 
when expanding into the United States.

Sam is active in his charitable foundation, 
Jasmine Social Investments. This funds a 
portfolio of high-impact social ventures 
in developing countries, providing 
critical services in health, education 
and livelihoods to the profoundly poor.

Sam lives in Nelson, New Zealand.
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Corporate governance information

Trade Me’s investor relations website (http://investors. 
trademe.co.nz/) contains copies of the following corporate 
governance documents, referred to in this section:

 • Constitution

 • Trade Me Board Charter

 • Audit & Risk Management Committee Charter

 • Human Resources and Compensation Committee Charter

 • Nominations Committee Charter

 • Independent Directors Committee Charter

 • External Audit Independence Policy

 • Code of Conduct

 • Diversity Policy

 • Securities Trading Policy

 • Market Disclosure Policy

 • Risk Management Policy.

Corporate Governance

The role of the Board of Trade Me Group Limited (“Trade Me” 
or “the company”) is to work to protect and enhance the value 
of the company’s assets, in the interests of the Company and 
its shareholders.

The Board approves the strategic direction of Trade Me, its 
financial objectives, oversees its management and monitors 
its performance. As part of the Board’s oversight it ensures 
there is an ongoing assessment of business risks and that there 
are controls and systems in place to manage those risks. The 
Board approves the company’s financial and other reporting.

While the Board has statutory responsibility for Trade Me’s 
activities, it delegates the day-to-day leadership and 
management of the company to the CEO. The delegations 
of Board to CEO are set out in the Board Charter and the 
Delegated Authority framework, which also covers authority 
levels for certain commitments which may be made by the 
company’s management.

The Board implements the company’s corporate governance 
structure to comply with applicable law, and takes into 
consideration the NZX Corporate Governance Best Practice 
Code (NZX Code), and the Corporate Governance Principles 
and Recommendations issued by the ASX Corporate 
Governance Council (ASX Principles).

The Securities Commission (Financial Markets Authority) 
Corporate Governance in New Zealand Principles and 
Guidelines sets out nine fundamental principles of good 
governance. This section in the Annual Report is arranged 
to address these.

Principle 1

Ethical standards: Directors observe and foster high 
ethical standards

Code of conduct

The Board has adopted a Code of Conduct. It sets out the 
ethical and behavioural standards expected of directors of 
Trade Me. The same code applies to Trade Me staff, and in 
addition directors and staff are expected to maintain the 
Trade Me values (see page 26) which sum up what’s important 
to Trade Me and what the company aims to be.

Avoiding conflicts of interest

The Board is very conscious of the need to ensure that 
directors avoid conflicts of interest between their duty to 
Trade Me and their own interests. Trade Me keeps an interests 
register in which relevant transactions and disclosures of 
interests by the directors are recorded. A copy of the directors’ 
interests register is found on page 43.

Trading in securities

Directors and designated senior employees of Trade Me 
are restricted in their trading of Trade Me shares under 
New Zealand law and by Trade Me’s Securities Trading Policy. 
The policy is in place to ensure people don’t trade in securities 
when they may hold undisclosed, price-sensitive information.

The policy details “blackout periods” where trading is forbidden, 
as well as a process for authorisation at other times.

The Board resolved in June 2013 to amend the Trade Me 
Board Charter, to state an expectation that each director 
should hold Trade Me shares to a value of $100,000. Directors 
may take up to three years after appointment to acquire those  
holdings and will do so in trading periods under the Securities 
Trading Policy. This was seen as a practical means for directors 
to demonstrate their commitment to the company and the 
alignment of their interest with those of other shareholders.

The directors’ current shareholdings are set out on page 45.

Disclosures
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Principle 2

Board composition and performance: There is 
a balance of independence, skills, knowledge, 
experience and perspectives amongst directors, 
so that the board works effectively.

Board composition

The Board’s structure and its governance arrangements are 
set out in its Constitution and in the Trade Me Board Charter.

The Board can have between three and ten directors. There 
are currently five directors, all of whom are non-executive: 
an independent chairman, two independent directors, and  
two further directors (Gail Hambly and Sam Morgan) who  
were originally nominated by Fairfax Media Limited when it 
had a majority shareholding in Trade Me, but who are now 
directors of Trade Me in their own right. The CEO is not a 
member of the Trade Me Group Board.

The directors are:

David Kirk (chairman), Gail Hambly, Paul McCarney, 
Sam Morgan and Joanna Perry.

Greg Hywood resigned as a director on 21 December 2012, 
when Fairfax Media disposed of its shareholding in Trade Me.

The current directors, other than Paul McCarney, were 
appointed on 13 October 2011. In last year’s Annual Report 
the Board said it hoped to appoint another independent 
director in the year ahead, and Paul McCarney was 
appointed on 5 November 2012. His skills and experience 
were considered to be very relevant, comprehensive and 
complementary to those of other directors. He will stand for 
election at the annual shareholder meeting in October 2013.

The Board has a broad range of skills and experience, across 
online and data-driven businesses, deal-making, advertising, 
governance and financial management. Profiles of all the 
directors can be found on page 30 of this report.

The standard term for a non-executive director is six years 
from the date of standing for election. After six years, the 
director must offer to resign. The Board may offer a further 
term of up to three years. The Board complies with the 
relevant provisions in the NZX and ASX Listing Rules for the 
retirement of directors by rotation.

The Board has a Nominations Committee which identifies 
and recommends prospective Board members. In doing 
so it considers a range of relevant factors – qualifications, 
experience, the skills mix on the Board and ability to work 
effectively with other Board members. 

Director independence

The Board Charter requires at least two directors to be 
independent. A director will not be regarded as independent if:

 • he or she is a substantial shareholder (as defined in the 
Securities Markets Act 1988) of the company or an officer 
of, or otherwise associated directly with, a substantial 
security holder of the company;

 • within the last three years he or she has been employed in 
an executive capacity by the company or another group 
member, or been a director of another group company 
after ceasing to hold any such employment;

 • within the last three years he or she has been a principal 
of a material professional advisor or a material consultant 
to the company or another group member or an 
employee materially associated with the service provided;

 • he or she is a material supplier or customer of the 
company or other group member, or an officer of or 
otherwise associated directly or indirectly with a material 
supplier or customer;

 • he or she has a material contractual relationship with 
the company or another group member other than as a 
director of the company;

 • he or she is not free from any interest or any business or 
other relationship which could, or could reasonably be 
perceived to, materially interfere with the director’s ability 
to act in the best interests of Trade Me.

Director independence is assessed by the Board. Directors are 
required to give notice of their interests to the Board and must 
promptly tell the Board of any changes in interests that may be 
relevant in assessing their independence.

Gail Hambly and Sam Morgan are not currently classified as 
independent directors under the Board Charter because they are 
associated with Fairfax Media, which was in the same group of 
companies as Trade Me within the last three years. Fairfax Media 
is no longer a shareholder in Trade Me. Gail is an Executive of 
Fairfax Media and Sam is a director of that company.

Board performance

The Board Charter provides for regular performance reviews 
of the Board and its Committees.

The Board completed a review of its performance in 
June 2013, undertaken in three steps – a review of compliance 
against the requirements of the Board Charter, the anonymous 
completion by directors and executives of evaluation 
questionnaires relating to Board and committee composition 
and performance, and individual interviews of directors with 
the Chairman.
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Principle 3

Board Committees: The Board uses Committees where 
this enhances effectiveness in key areas while retaining 
Board responsibility.

The Board’s Committees review and consider policies and 
strategies developed by management in detail. They examine 
proposals and make recommendations to the Board. They 
don’t take action or make decisions on behalf of the Board 
unless specifically mandated to do so. 

During the year Trade Me’s standing Board Committees, 
and their members were:

 • Audit & Risk Management Committee: 
Joanna Perry (Chair), Gail Hambly, David Kirk

 • Human Resources & Compensation Committee: 
David Kirk (Chair), Paul McCarney (from November 2012), 
Sam Morgan, Joanna Perry

 • Nominations Committee: 
Joanna Perry (Chair), Gail Hambly, David Kirk, 
Paul McCarney (from November 2012)

 • Independent Directors Committee: 
David Kirk (Chair), Joanna Perry.

The Independent Directors Committee has not been required 
since December 2012 when Fairfax Media sold its holding in 
Trade Me.

More detail of the roles and responsibilities of the standing 
Committees are set out in their respective Charters.

From time to time, the Board may also appoint a Committee of 
directors to consider or approve a specific proposal or action 
and to report back to the Board.

Board and Committee Meetings

Between 1 July 2012 and 30 June 2013 there were 10 Board 
meetings (eight in person and two by audio conference), a 
separate strategy meeting, seven Audit & Risk Management 
Committee meetings, four Human Resources & Compensation 
Committee meetings, and one Independent Directors’ 
Committee meeting.

The Nominations Committee did not formally meet as all 
matters concerning the appointment of Paul McCarney and 
any other prospective directors were discussed by the full Board.

All meetings were attended by all the directors or Committee 
members as appropriate, with the exception of one Board 
meeting and one Human Resources & Compensation 
Committee meeting held on the same day, neither of 
which Sam Morgan was able to attend.

Principle 4

Reporting and disclosure: The Board demands integrity 
both in financial reporting and in the timeliness and 
balance of disclosures on entity affairs.

Financial reporting

The Board is responsible overall for ensuring that Trade Me 
can effectively ensure the integrity of its financial reporting.

The Audit & Risk Management Committee oversees the quality, 
reliability and accuracy of Trade Me’s financial statements and 
its related documents. A full description of the Audit & Risk 
Management Committee’s role is contained in its Charter.

The Audit & Risk Management Committee and the Board 
undertake sufficient inquiry of management, including 
requiring certification by executives and inquiry of the auditors, 
for them to be satisfied of the validity and accuracy of all 
aspects of Trade Me’s financial reporting.

Disclosure to the market

The Market Disclosure Policy sets out requirements for 
full and timely disclosure to the market of material issues, 
so all stakeholders have equal access to information.

All material announcements are reviewed and approved by the 
Board. Directors and management consider at each meeting 
whether there are any issues which require disclosure to the 
market, under the continuous disclosure requirements of NZX 
and ASX.

A Disclosure Committee is in place if required to manage 
urgent announcements, comprising the CEO, CFO, General 
Counsel and the Company Secretary. The Company Secretary 
is responsible for ensuring timely release of information to NZX 
and ASX and is the main liaison person for communications 
with the NZX and ASX.

Information for investors

Trade Me’s investor relations website includes its presentations, 
reports, announcements, and media releases, as well as the 
Charters and guidelines referred to in this section. This Annual 
Report is available in electronic and hard copy format.

Trade Me’s annual meeting will be held on Wednesday 
30 October 2013 in Wellington. Shareholders will be given 
a reasonable opportunity to ask questions and comment 
on relevant matters. Auditors Ernst & Young will attend and 
be available to answer questions about the audit and the 
audit report. A Notice of Meeting will be sent to shareholders 
in September.
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Principle 5

Remuneration: The remuneration of directors 
and executives is transparent, fair and reasonable.

Remuneration

Trade Me aims to have a remuneration framework and policies 
to attract and retain talented and motivated people. The Board 
has approved the following principles in setting remuneration:

 • be fair, consistent and easy to understand;

 • be true to the Trade Me value of hiring and growing great 
people;

 • be recognised as a great place to work, and attract, retain 
and motivate high-performing individuals;

 • align employee incentives with the achievement of good 
business performance and shareholder return;

 • recognise and reward individual success, while 
encouraging teamwork and a high-performance culture; 
and

 • be competitive in the labour market.

As a New Zealand company, Trade Me is not required to 
prepare a detailed remuneration report. Those requirements 
only apply to companies incorporated in Australia.

Non-executive directors’ remuneration

The total remuneration pool for Trade Me’s non-executive 
directors was set at $650,000 per annum, prior to the IPO 
in December 2011. A change to that total pool will need 
shareholder approval. The company is likely to seek approval 
for an increase at the annual shareholder meeting as the 
original pool of fees took into consideration that directors 
Gail Hambly and Greg Hywood were (then) appointees of 
Fairfax Media as a major shareholder, and did not receive 
any directors’ fees. Gail Hambly is now a director in her own 
right, Paul McCarney was added as a new director, and the 
Board would like to allow in the pool for an additional director.

The current annual fees paid to directors are:

 • Chairman $195,000 (including all Committee 
responsibilities)

 • Non-executive directors $85,000

 • Chair of the Audit & Risk Management Committee 
$25,000

 • Chair of the Human Resources & Compensation 
Committee $15,000

 • Members of a Committee (except Chair) $10,000

Directors on multiple Committees (except the Nominations 
Committee and Independent Directors Committee) receive 
fees for membership of each Committee.

The fees paid to the directors in the year to 30 June 2013 are 
set out on page 42.

CEO remuneration

Jon Macdonald’s employment agreement for his role as CEO 
commenced on 26 February 2008.

The terms of the agreement reflect standard conditions that 
are appropriate for a senior executive of a listed company. 
Jon’s remuneration is a combination of base salary plus 
incentive arrangements for short-term and long-term 
performance.

Jon’s base salary in the year to 30 June 2013 was $554,510, 
plus a short term incentive (STI) component, the amount of 
which is yet to be finalised for the F13 year. He is no longer 
participating in the Fairfax Media LTI Scheme after Fairfax’s 
disposition of its Trade Me shares.

At the time of the IPO Jon was granted 71,110 restricted shares 
in the Executive Share Plan, and he participated in the LTI 
scheme described below.

Jon’s STI payments are determined by measuring the 
company’s financial performance against budget, as well as 
a number of specific strategic, non-financial performance 
targets set at the beginning of the financial year.

The Human Resources & Compensation Committee annually 
evaluates his performance and remuneration and makes 
remuneration recommendations to the full Board. The 
Committee reviewed advice from PricewaterhouseCoopers, 
and considered the published remuneration information for a 
range of comparable companies in New Zealand and Australia 
to assist it in setting Jon’s total remuneration.

Trade Me employee remuneration

Trade Me roles are evaluated and market data is used to 
determine competitive salary and total remuneration levels for 
all staff. Individual remuneration is set within the appropriate 
market range and allows for individual performance, scarcity of 
skills, internal relativities and specific business needs. Trade Me 
uses benchmark reports and regularly updates market data to 
ensure it maintains market relativity.

The Board approves the overall remuneration budget. The 
Human Resources & Compensation Committee makes 
recommendations to the Board in relation to the remuneration 
arrangements for the CEO and Executive team, including any 
STI payments.

Short-term incentive (STI) plan

There was an STI plan in place for a number of Trade Me 
employees for F13 and new targets have now been set for F14. 
Terms vary depending on the seniority of employees. Senior 
management staff generally need to achieve financial targets 
set at the beginning of the relevant financial year, and specific 
individual targets. Payments are generally made in August each 
year following the end of the financial year.
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Executive Share Plan – IPO

Trade Me put in place a long-term incentive (LTI) plan at 
the time of the IPO, known as the Executive Share Plan. 
Twenty-six senior employees were given the opportunity to 
purchase “restricted shares”. A total of 292,986 shares were 
offered with the same rights as ordinary shares, including 
the right to receive dividends. The plan was put in place to 
keep the interests of senior staff aligned with the interests of 
shareholders, particularly during the forecast period following 
the IPO.

Trade Me made an interest-free loan to each Plan member for 
the purchase price of the shares.

These restricted shares were issued on condition that they 
would become ordinary shares if the following qualification 
criteria were met:

 • If Trade Me’s EBITDA was $110.9m or more for the period 
from 1 January 2012 to 31 December 2012;  and

 • If the senior employee remained in continuous full-time 
employment with Trade Me until 31 December 2013.

The EBITDA target has been met, so the restricted shares will 
become ordinary shares for the participating employees still 
employed at 31 December 2013.

Trade Me will pay a bonus to them which must be used to 
repay the loan.

New long-term incentive (LTI) scheme

A new LTI Scheme was put in place for the Trade Me executive 
and senior management teams at 1 October 2012. The plan 
is similar in structure to the Executive Share Plan dating from 
the IPO. The Scheme is an incentive and reward scheme 
for employees and the benefits under it are linked to the 
company’s performance.

A Scheme Deed and Scheme Rules have been put in place 
to allow the Board to make offers of shares to selected 
employees, with performance-based hurdles detailed in 
individual offers. A new special purpose wholly-owned 
subsidiary (TMG Trustee Limited) was incorporated to 
administer the Scheme.

The issue price for any issue of shares under the Scheme is 
calculated as the volume weighted average market price of 
Trade Me shares on the NZX over the 20 trading days prior to 
the date the shares are issued.

As with the Executive Share Plan from the IPO, Trade Me 
provides each participating employee with an interest free loan 
for the issue price of the shares. TMG Trustee uses the loan to 
acquire the shares on behalf of each relevant employee and 
holds the shares as bare trustee.

Performance hurdles must be achieved before the shares can 
be transferred by TMG Trustee to the relevant employees, 
and performance is measured at the end of the second and 
third years from the date of issue of the shares. The hurdles 
are separate measures of the company’s total return to 
shareholders and its earnings per share, over the financial 

years ending immediately before the 2-year and 3-year 
hurdle dates.

Where the performance hurdles are satisfied, Trade Me will pay 
a bonus, which (after tax) is equal to the loan attributable to 
those shares. The loan will be repaid then, and the shares will 
be transferred by TMG Trustee to the relevant employees as 
unrestricted ordinary shares.

If the performance hurdles are not met (or are only partially 
met) the balance of the shares become “Forfeited Shares” and 
will be purchased by TMG Trustee. The loan will be repaid and 
the shares held on trust by TMG Trustee (until sold back to 
Trade Me or recycled to other employees).

Twenty-nine senior employees accepted offers of shares 
under the LTI scheme at 1 October 2012 at an issue price 
of $3.971, and 235,518 shares are held by TMG Trustee for 
them. An additional 15,406 shares have been issued (or are 
shortly to be issued) to new senior employees, as part of their 
employment agreements, since 1 October 2012. Those shares 
are subject to the same hurdles and dates as the October 
shares, and issued at various prices calculated as the volume 
weighted average market price of Trade Me shares on the NZX 
over the 20 trading days prior to the date those employees 
started work or otherwise became entitled.

Gift Shares

The Board resolved in September 2012 to issue a small number 
of ordinary shares to each Trade Me employee by way of gift. 
At 1 October 2012, each staff member was allotted $500 of 
shares – 126 shares each, a total of 36,540 shares.

Principle 6 

Risk management: The Board should regularly verify 
that the entity has appropriate processes that identify 
and manage potential and relevant risks.

The purpose of risk management at Trade Me is to identify 
and manage both existing and new risks in a planned and 
coordinated manner with the minimum of disruption and cost, 
and to develop a “risk aware” culture that encourages all staff 
to identify risks and associated opportunities and to respond 
to them effectively.

Trade Me has put a risk management framework in place to 
identify, oversee, manage and control risk. That framework 
includes a risk management policy (available on the company’s 
investor relations website) and an implementation structure. 
This requires a Comprehensive Risk Register to be completed 
by the senior management team every six months. It identifies 
all known risks to the company’s strategy and business 
priorities, or which are counter to its code of conduct, and 
the controls and mitigation of those risks. Risks are recorded 
by impact, probability, and trending.

In addition to the Comprehensive Risk Register, a Key Risk 
Register is maintained and reviewed at least every six months 
by the Audit & Risk Management Committee.
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Key Risks are the company’s greatest strategic and 
operational risks, identified by the Executive team and plotted 
as a matrix of impact and probability. They may include risks 
around specific current projects. Risk management and 
mitigation must be addressed in project plans for high-risk 
projects from inception and signed off by specified Executive 
team members.

The Executive team reviews the Key Risks when setting the 
company’s strategy and budgets, and when considering new 
business cases and investments, as well as for certain types of 
projects and in relation to the company’s insurances. The Key 
Risks are reviewed at least every six months.

The Key Risk Register is provided to the Audit & Risk 
Management Committee and to the Board, as soon as 
practicable following the Executive Team’s six-monthly review.

The Board recognises there is a degree of subjectivity 
in risk assessment, but a Key Risk which is assessed as high in 
both impact and probability will generally not be considered 
acceptable unless the Board is satisfied it is trending downward 
and/or there are immediate plans to improve controls further.

The company is not subject to Australian Corporation Law, but 
the Board believes it is complying with the ASX Principles and 
particularly Principle 7.3 in relation to risk management. The 
CEO and CFO have confirmed in writing to the Audit & Risk 
Management Committee that the integrity of the company’s 
financial statements is founded on a sound system of risk 
management and internal compliance and control. They have 
also confirmed that this system implements the policies of the 
Board and is operating effectively in all material respects in 
relation to financial reporting.

Principle 7

Auditors: The Board should ensure the quality and 
independence of the external audit process.

Trade Me has an Audit Independence Policy that requires 
the external auditor to be independent and be seen as 
independent. The policy sets out the key commitments by 
the Board, and procedures to be followed by the Audit & Risk 
Management Committee and management to maintain a 
framework for audit independence.

The Board ensures the auditor has fair remuneration for the 
agreed scope of the statutory audit and audit-related services. 
Audit fees total $147,000 for the year.

There must be full and frank dialogue amongst the Audit & 
Risk Management Committee, auditor and management, so 
the auditor’s senior representatives meet separately with the 
Audit & Risk Management Committee (without management 
present) at least twice a year.

Non-audit work

There are restrictions on non-audit work performed by 
the auditor. In the last financial year there have been three 
occasions when the audit firm has undertaken specific non-
audit work, with approval from the Audit & Risk Management 
Committee under the policy. None of that non-audit 
work compromised or could be seen to compromise the 
independence and objectivity of the audit process.

Fees of $7,000 were incurred for the three non-audit 
engagements undertaken by the auditors in F13.

The Audit Independence Policy requires that Trade Me will 
not hire any current or former audit partner or audit manager 
without the explicit approval of the Chair of the Audit & Risk 
Management Committee. During the year a former senior 
manager of Ernst & Young was employed by Trade Me in a 
finance role, with the approval of the Chair of the Committee. 
Neither the company nor its auditors consider there to be any 
issue as to his independence.

Trade Me requires the rotation of the senior audit partner and 
review partner at least every five years.
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Principle 8

Shareholder relations: The Board should foster 
constructive relationships with shareholders that 
encourage them to engage with the entity.

Trade Me keeps shareholders informed through periodic 
reporting to NZX and ASX, and through continuous 
disclosure. It provides briefings and presentations to media 
and analysts (which are made immediately available on 
the investor relations website), and communicates with 
shareholders through its annual and half-year reports and 
shareholder meetings.

We encourage shareholders to refer to the investor 
relations website, and to take annual and half-year reports 
electronically, but hard copies of the reports can readily be 
obtained from Link Market Services Limited, whose details 
appear in the directory section of this report.

Principle 9

Stakeholder interests: The Board should respect 
the interests of stakeholders within the context 
of the company’s ownership type and its fundamental 
purpose.

Trade Me aims to put the consumer at the heart of transactions 
on its online marketplaces and has designed the Trade Me 
platform to meet the needs of its users in a way that is trusted, 
effective and good value. Trade Me balances its economic and 
social responsibilities to the fullest possible extent.

Community

The company engages in sponsorship and philanthropy as a 
good Kiwi corporate citizen. We want members to feel good 
about being part of our community, and we want the wider 
public to feel good about doing business with a company that 
supports worthy causes. As an entity supported by millions 
of New Zealanders, we believe we should contribute back 
directly, but we take a sensible approach.

Traditionally Trade Me has supported things that are family-
orientated and familiar to Kiwis – events and organisations 
that align with our company values. Trade Me doesn’t have 
the staff numbers to participate in sponsorships that require 
a big investment of time, so we look for sponsorships which 
are practical to manage and take advantage of the strengths 
of our platform.

For our larger sponsorships, we favour a long-term approach 
rather than a short-term one. We prefer to get alongside an 
organisation and to build a relationship with many threads 
over many years, rather than one-offs. We also have a bias 
towards things where the overall equation is better than us 
just giving cash.

We have a set of criteria to guide our response to sponsorship 
proposals. We use these to assess the fit of any given 
approach, but also to provide the sponsorship-seeker with a 
steer around what we are looking for.

Our sponsorships in F13 included: Wellington Zoo’s nocturnal 
area (where the kiwis live), free WiFi in Wellington (Waterfront) 
and Christchurch (Cashell Mall), Workchoice Day, Special 
Children’s Christmas Parties and a bunch of tech conferences 
(including WDCNZ, Webstock, Net Hui and Foo Camp).

On the charities front, we field between 30 and 50 queries a 
week from around the country, and since 2011 we have had 
a full-time charities co-ordinator. For larger organisations 
and campaigns our support may extend to PR, pro bono 
advertising and social media noise. For smaller campaigns an 
acknowledgement they are doing something worthwhile and 
refunding a few success fees is always appreciated. Just about 
every time, there is something we can do to help out.

We have a longstanding relationship with Plunket which 
has been in place for eight years. Actual feathered kiwis are 
an obvious alignment and we have worked with the Kiwi 
Recovery Programme, Forest & Bird, and now Kiwis for kiwi. 

Both Plunket and Kiwis for kiwi are beneficiaries of the “seller 
top-up” facility, which allows sellers on Trade Me to elect 
to have their fees topped up to the nearest dollar, with the 
proceeds of the top-up going to the charity.

We also have strong relationships with KidsCan (we help 
out with their high profile More Day fundraiser which raised 
$142,000 in August 2013) and the Starship Foundation (we 
run the month-long Starship Spring Clean in September via a 
bespoke donation platform). We also support the TRN Special 
Kids’ Christmas Party with a donation and volunteer bodies.

Environment

Reusing and giving items multiple lives is at the heart of 
Trade Me’s business. Through our General Items marketplace, 
we provide a platform for our members to reuse and repurpose 
a vast array of second-hand goods which might otherwise be 
discarded to landfills.

Back in the office, we have a number of initiatives aimed at 
reducing Trade Me’s environmental impact. We minimise the 
use of paper and toners, recycle materials wherever possible, 
and monitor energy and water usage.

Since 2007, Trade Me has been carbon neutral. We collect 
our travel and energy consumption data and engage Ernst & 
Young to calculate our greenhouse gas emissions. We then 
acquire carbon credits to offset these emissions.

In 2013, we provided detailed information to CDP (www.cdproject.
net), an international not-for profit organisation that provides a 
system for companies to measure and disclose environmental 
information. We have provided CDP with Trade Me’s greenhouse 
gas emissions, energy use and the risks/opportunities we see 
around climate change. The results of the CDP survey are 
expected later this year and these will provide us with additional 
measurement and increased transparency in this area.

Diversity

Trade Me fosters an inclusive working environment that 
promotes employment equity and workforce diversity at all 
levels, including the Executive team and Board.
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Diversity guidelines were developed during F12 and are available on the investor relations website.

The company actively promotes diversity in its hiring policies, particularly in relation to gender diversity. Trade Me requires 
that the hiring manager for a senior role records and submits details of the steps taken to encourage diversity in filling that role. 
At completion, Human Resources reports on the gender breakdown of applicants and shortlisted candidates, and on the efficacy 
of diversity actions. Interview panels for those roles include both male and female interviewers.

The Board approved the following gender diversity objectives:

 • 33% of the Board should be female

 • 33% of the (combined) Executive Team and Senior Management Team should be female

 • 50% of all employees should be female

Progress has been made against these objectives. The gender breakdown at Trade Me as at 30 June 2013 was as follows:

F12 
Female

F12
Male

F12 
Total F12 %

F13 
Female

F13 
Male

F13  
Total F13 %

Board 2 3 5 40% 2 3 5 40%

Executive Team and Senior Management Team 6 23 29 21% 7 24 31 23%

All employees 116 140 256 45% 135 160 295 46%

Compliance with NZX Code and ASX Principles

The Board has determined that the company complies with the NZX Code and the ASX Principles. Last year there were 
three areas noted where the company was not completely compliant with the ASX Principles. Those areas – requirements that 
there be a majority of independent directors on the Board, for a performance evaluation of the Board and directors, and for 
confirmation by CEO and CFO in relation to the system of risk management and control for financial reporting – have been 
brought in line with the ASX Principles.
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Disclosures

Shareholder information

20 largest shareholders as at 31 July 2013*

* Note the holdings of New Zealand Central Securities Depository Limited (NZCSD) are listed separately rather than within a single 
holding for NZCSD.

Shareholder Number of shares Percentage

National Nominees Limited 67,440,836 17.02

J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 54,083,206 13.65

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 28,166,405 7.11

National Nominees New Zealand Limited 21,424,948 5.41

JP Morgan Chase Bank 20,009,270 5.05

HSBC Nominees (New Zealand) Limited 19,470,895 4.91

BNP Paribas Nominees Pty Limited 13,223,254 3.33

Accident Compensation Corporation 13,212,271 3.33

Cogent Nominees Limited 10,849,976 2.74

Tea Custodians Limited 10,483,739 2.65

HSBC Nominees (New Zealand) Limited 9,521,540 2.40

New Zealand Superannuation Fund Nominees Limited 8,846,483 2.23

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 8,744,086 2.21

RBC Investor Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited 8,695,332 2.19

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 7,732,454 1.95

JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 6,337,813 1.60

RBC Investor Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited 5,660,041 1.43

Custodial Services Limited 5,571,405 1.41

UBS Nominees Pty Limited 5,280,608 1.33

Citibank Nominees (NZ) Limited 3,095,926 0.78

Distribution of ordinary shares and registered shareholders as at 31 July 2013

Shareholder range Number of shareholders Number of shares Percentage of issued capital %

1 – 1,000 1,827 1,210,331 0.31

1,001 – 5,000 3,443 9,375,976 2.37

5,001 – 10,000 837 6,421,981 1.62

10,001 – 50,000 444 8,729,281 2.20

50,001 – 100,000 40 3,015,339 0.76

100,001 and over 57 367,557,646 92.74

Total 6,648 396,310,554 100.00

There were 70 shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel of shares as defined in the ASX Listing Rules, based on the 
closing price of AU$4.23. The ASX Listing Rules define a marketable parcel of shares as “a parcel of not less than AU$500”.

There is no current share buy-back taking place.
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Substantial security holders

At 31 July 2013 Trade Me has received notice that the following were substantial security holders in accordance with section 26(1) 
of the Securities Markets Act 1988, and held relevant interests in Trade Me ordinary shares as shown below:

Date of last 
disclosure notice

Relevant interest in 
number of shares

Percentage held 
as at date of 

last notice

AMP Capital Investors (New Zealand) Limited 24 January 2013 20,684,435 5.22

Baillie Gifford Overseas Limited 23 May 2013 31,475,406 7.95

BNP Paribas Investment Partners (Australia) Limited 30 April 2013 20,975,963 5.30

Hyperion Asset Management Limited 22 May 2013 49,550,653 12.51

Westpac Banking Corporation and associated companies 28 May 2013 20,883,017 5.27

Voting rights

Shareholders may vote at a meeting of shareholders either in person or through a representative. Where voting is by show of 
hands or by voice every shareholder present in person or by representative has one vote.

In a poll every shareholder present in person or by representative has one vote for each share. Unless the Board determines 
otherwise, shareholders may not exercise the right to vote at a meeting by casting postal votes.

Limitations on the acquisition of Trade Me securities

The terms of the company’s admission to the ASX and ongoing listing requires the following disclosure. Trade Me is incorporated 
in New Zealand. As such, it is not subject to Chapters 6, 6A, 6B and 6C of the Corporations Act 2001 (Australia) dealing with the 
acquisition of shares (i.e., substantial holdings and takeovers). 

Limitations on the acquisition of securities imposed under New Zealand law are as follows:

 • In general, securities in Trade Me are freely transferable and the only significant restrictions or limitations in relation to the 
acquisition of securities are those imposed by New Zealand laws relating to takeovers, overseas investment and competition.

 • The New Zealand Takeovers Code creates a general rule under which the acquisition of 20% of more of the voting rights in 
Trade Me or the increase of an existing holding of 20% of more of the voting rights of Trade Me can only occur in certain 
permitted ways.  These include a full takeover offer in accordance with the Takeovers Code, an acquisition approved by an 
ordinary resolution, an allotment approved by an ordinary resolution, a creeping acquisition (in certain circumstances), or 
compulsory acquisition of a shareholder holding 90% or more of the shares.

 • The New Zealand Overseas Investment Act 2005 and Overseas Investment Regulations 2005 (New Zealand) regulate certain 
investments in New Zealand by overseas interests.  In general terms, the consent of the New Zealand Overseas Investment 
Office is likely to be required where an “overseas person” acquires shares in the company that amount to 25% or more of the 
shares issued by Trade Me, or if the overseas person already holds 25% or more, the acquisition increases that holding.

 • The New Zealand Commerce Act 1986 is likely to prevent a person from acquiring shares in Trade Me if the acquisition would 
have, or would be likely to have, the effect of substantially lessening competition in the market.

In accordance with the requirements of the ASX waiver provided at the time of the company’s admission to the ASX, Trade Me 
certifies that during the period from 1 July 2012 to 30 June 2013 it has been subject to, and has complied with the requirements 
of NZX with respect to the issue of new securities. Trade Me continues to comply with these requirements.

Credit rating

The company has no credit rating.

Donations

The company made $64,000 in donations during the F13 year.

Company Secretary

Trade Me’s Company Secretary is Sarah Hard.
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Director and employee remuneration

Employee remuneration

There were 73 Trade Me employees (or former employees) who received remuneration and other benefits in excess of $100,000 in 
their capacity as employees in F13, as set out in the table below.

This includes salary, share gifts, STI payments, and the fair value of LTI shares (both from the Executive Share Plan at the IPO and 
in the new LTI Scheme) at 30 June 2013. It also includes any settlement payments and payments in lieu of notice upon departure 
from the company.

Salary bands ($) Count of Total

860,000 – 870,000 1

480,000 – 490,000 1

420,000 – 430,000 1

340,000 – 350,000 1

300,000 – 310,000 1

270,000 – 280,000 1

220,000 – 230,000 1

200,000 – 210,000 3

190,000 – 200,000 5

180,000 – 190,000 1

170,000 – 180,000 5

160,000 – 170,000 4

150,000 – 160,000 2

140,000 – 150,000 4

130,000 – 140,000 2

120,000 – 130,000 10

110,000 – 120,000 17

100,000 – 110,000 13

Total 73

Remuneration of directors

Remuneration paid to directors of Trade Me for the F13 year is as follows:

David Kirk          $195,000 

Gail Hambly*        $50,309 

Greg Hywood* nil

Sam Morgan        $95,000 

Paul McCarney**      $64,166 

Joanna Perry  $120,000

* Gail Hambly and Greg Hywood were not paid directors’ fees by Trade Me while Fairfax held a majority shareholding in 
Trade Me. When Fairfax disposed of its shareholding in December 2012, Gail became a director in her own right, rather than 
as a Fairfax appointee and received director’s fees from 21 December 2012.

** Paul McCarney was appointed a director on 5 November 2012.

None of the directors have received or become entitled to receive a benefit other than directors’ fees since the end of the 
financial year. Directors are reimbursed for travel and other incidental expenses incurred in attending Board meetings.
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Directors’ disclosures

Interests register

Pursuant to section 140(2) of the Companies Act 1993 directors have made general disclosures of interests. The following 
information was included in Trade Me’s interests register as at 30 June 2013. Where changes in the interests register were notified 
during the year or subsequently then these have been indicated below.

David Kirk

Hoyts Group Limited Executive Chairman/shareholder

Pacific Fibre Limited (now P F Holdings Limited) Director Resigned 12 September 2012

Forsyth Barr Limited Director

Bailador Investment Management Limited Director/shareholder

Viocorp International Pty Limited Director/shareholder

SMI Holding Company Pty Limited Director/shareholder

NZPH Limited Director/shareholder

Online Ventures Pty Limited (trading as SiteMinder) Director/shareholder

David Kirk Pty Limited Director/shareholder

Kirk Family Trust Pty Limited Director/shareholder

Ocean Beach Wilderness Property Limited Director

Foodshare Limited Chairman

Gail Hambly

Fairfax Media Limited Executive and Company Secretary

Fairfax Digital Holdings NZ Limited Director

Other Fairfax subsidiaries (Australia, New Zealand, Malaysia, 
Singapore, United States, United Kingdom)

Director

Australian Associated Press Pty Limited Alternate Director

Bellsline Nominees Pty Limited Director

Canberra Newspapers Limited Director and Secretary

Copyco Pty Limited Chairman

Company B Limited Deputy Chairman

Paper Bond Limited Director

Rural Press Superannuation Pty Limited Director

The Julian Small Foundation Limited Director

Vident Pty Limited Director and Secretary

Greg Hywood (Trade Me director to 21 December 2012)

Fairfax Media Limited Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer

GKJT Investments Pty. Ltd. Director and Secretary

The Newspaper Works Limited Director

The Readership Works Pty Ltd Director

Vertical Consulting Pty Ltd Director

Victorian Major Events Company Limited Director

Fairfax Digital Assets NZ Limited Director

Fairfax Digital Holdings NZ Limited Director
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Paul McCarney

Mogeneration Pty Ltd Chairman/shareholder Resigned July 2013

Search Academy Pty Ltd Chairman/shareholder

Notee Finance Pty Ltd Director/shareholder

Codylan Pty Ltd Director/shareholder

Nuda Rudda Pty Ltd Director/shareholder

Quotify Development Pty Ltd Director/shareholder Resigned 20 April 2013

Sector Light Group Pty Ltd Director/shareholder

BTBI TCo Pty Limited Director/shareholder

BTBI Holdings Pty Ltd Director/shareholder

Culture Amp Pty Limited Adviser

Sam Morgan

Jasmine Charitable Trust Trustee

Jasmine Charitable Trust No.2 Trustee

Jasmine Investment Trust Trustee

Jasmine Investment Trust No.2 Trustee

Sam and Talei Family Trust Trustee

Fairfax Media Limited Director/shareholder

Jasmine Fleet Holdings Limited Director/shareholder

Jasmine Investment Holdings Limited Director/shareholder

Jasmine Investment Holdings Limited No.2 Director/shareholder

Jasmine Investment Holdings Limited No.3 Director/shareholder

Jasmine Investment Holdings Limited No.4 Director/shareholder

JIT Hillend Investment Limited Director/shareholder

Kiwi Landing Pad Limited Director/shareholder

P F Holdings Limited (formerly Pacific Fibre Limited) Director/shareholder

Tokaroa Farm Limited Director/shareholder

Willis Bond Capital Partners Limited Advisory Board member

Visfleet Limited Director/shareholder

Xero Limited Director/shareholder

Joanna Perry

The Co-operative Bank Limited Director

Genesis Power Limited Deputy Chairman

Rowing New Zealand Limited Director

JMGP Limited Director/shareholder

Financial Services Institute of Australasia Member of Policy Advisory Council Resigned March 2013

Victorian Auditor-General’s Office Member (Chairman from August 2012) of Audit Committee

Primary Growth Partnership Member (Chairman from 1 August 2013) of Investment 
Advisory Panel
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International Accounting Standards Board Interpretations 
Committee

Member

Partners Life Limited Director

Partners Group Holdings Limited Director

Sports and Recreation New Zealand Director

Kiwi Income Property Limited Director

Tainui Group Holdings Limited Board Adviser 

Directors’ and officers’ indemnities and insurance

In accordance with section 162 of the Companies Act 1993 and the company’s Constitution, Trade Me indemnifies and insures 
directors and officers against liability to other parties that may arise from their position. Details are maintained in the interests 
register as required by the Companies Act 1993.

Disclosure of directors’ interests in share transactions

In accordance with section 148(2) of the Companies Act 1993, directors disclosed the following acquisitions of relevant 
Trade Me interests in F13. No directors disposed of any shares during the period.

Number of securities acquired Amount paid Date of transaction

David Kirk 11,625 10,000 @ A$3.54

1,215 @$4.42

410 @$4.89

25 February 2013

25 February 2013

29 May 2013

Paul McCarney 15,000 Held at date of appointment n/a

Directors’ relevant interests in shares

Directors held the following relevant interests in voting securities of Trade Me as at 30 June 2013.

Directly held Held by associated persons

David Kirk 132,625

Gail Hambly 14,000

Paul McCarney 15,000

Sam Morgan 525,680

Joanna Perry 26,000

Subsidiary company directors

No wholly-owned subsidiary has directors who are not full-time Trade Me employees. No employee of Trade Me or any of its 
subsidiaries receives or retains any remuneration as a director. Where relevant, the remuneration and other benefits received by 
these employees are included in the relevant bandings in the employee remuneration section on page 42.

The directors of the company’s subsidiary companies during the F13 year were Jon Macdonald and Jonathan Klouwens. The 
subsidiaries are

 • Trade Me Limited             •   Old Friends Limited             •   TMG Trustee Limited             •   Trade Me Comparisons Limited

Share registry

The contact details for Link Market Services, Trade Me’s share registry, are set out in the Directory on page 82.

Further information online

Please visit the Trade Me investor relations website http://investors.trademe.co.nz/ for more information, including details of 
announcements, corporate governance policies, and FAQs.
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Financial 
statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2013
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Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 30 June 2013

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Group Company

Note
2013

$’000
2012

$’000
2013

$’000
2012

$’000

General items 65,496 62,408 – –

Classifieds 69,708 53,904 – –

Other 5 28,910 26,146 72,786 687

Total revenue 164,114 142,458 72,786 687

Employee benefit expense (21,203) (17,228) – –

Web infrastructure expense (3,016) (2,895) – –

Promotion expense (2,750) (2,602) – –

Other expenses 5 (13,683) (13,097) – –

Total expenses (40,652) (35,822) – –

Share of profit from associate 13 – 502 – –

Gain recognised on disposal of interest in  
former associate 13 – 3,269 – –

Earnings before interest, tax, 
depreciation and amortisation 123,462 110,407 72,786 687

Depreciation and amortisation 9, 10 (8,735) (5,165) – –

Earnings before interest and tax 114,727 105,242 72,786 687

Finance income 6 1,926 1,329 – –

Finance costs (7,185) (4,042) (6,757) (4,024)

Profit/(loss) before income tax 109,468 102,529 66,029 (3,337)

Income tax expense 17 (30,872) (26,937) – –

Profit/(loss) for the year 78,596 75,592 66,029 (3,337)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 78,596 75,592 66,029 (3,337)

Earnings per share

Basic/diluted (cents per share) 22  19.84  19.10 
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Statement of financial position as at 30 June 2013

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Group Company

Note
2013

$’000
2012

$’000
2013

$’000
2012

$’000

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 48,857 39,135 – –

Trade and other receivables 7 9,004 5,310 2,436 –

Total current assets 57,861 44,445 2,436 –

Trade and other receivables 7 814 – – –

Derivative financial instruments 8 78 – 78 –

Property, plant and equipment 9 5,449 4,342 – –

Other intangible assets 10 45,672 43,675 – –

Goodwill 11 730,703 729,724 – –

Investment in subsidiary 12 – – 1,235,622 1,235,946

Deferred tax asset 17 875 824 – –

Total non-current assets 783,591 778,565 1,235,700 1,235,946

Total assets 841,452 823,010 1,238,136 1,235,946

Liabilities

Trade and other payables 15 11,522 9,649 420 4,274

Derivative financial instruments 8 24 – 24 –

Income tax payable 17 6,953 8,944 – –

Total current liabilities 18,499 18,593 444 4,274

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 16 165,858 165,758 165,858 165,758

Other non-current liabilities 29 80 – –

Total non-current liabilities 165,887 165,838 165,858 165,758

Total liabilities 184,386 184,431 166,302 170,032

Equity

Contributed equity 18 1,069,196 1,069,051 1,069,196 1,069,051

Share based payment reserve 21 557 200 557 200

Other reserves 2.3 (485,737) (485,737) – –

Retained earnings/(losses) 73,050 55,065 2,081 (3,337)

Total equity attributable to owners of the Company 657,066 638,579 1,071,834 1,065,914

Total equity and liabilities 841,452 823,010 1,238,136 1,235,946

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors who authorised these financial statements for issue on 20 August 2013:

David Kirk 
Chairman

Joanna Perry 
Chair of The Audit & Risk 
Management Committee
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Group Note
Ordinary shares

$’000

Share based 
payment 

reserve
$’000

Retained  
earnings

$’000

Other 
reserves

$’000

Total
equity
$’000

As at 1 July 2011 – – 19,673 749,885 769,558

Profit for the year and total  
comprehensive income – – 75,592 – 75,592

Dividends on Trade Me Limited ordinary shares 19 – – (40,200) – (40,200)

Share based payments 21 – 200 – – 200

Shares issued to Fairfax Digital Holdings 
NZ Limited 18 705,672 – – (705,672) –

Initial public offering 18 363,379 – – – 363,379

Distribution to Fairfax New Zealand  
Holdings Limited – – – (529,950) (529,950)

As at 30 June 2012 1,069,051 200 55,065 (485,737) 638,579

Profit for the year and total  
comprehensive income – – 78,596 – 78,596

Dividends 19 – – (60,611) – (60,611)

Supplementary dividends – – (5,390) – (5,390)

Tax credit on supplementary dividends – – 5,390 – 5,390

Share based payments 21 – 357 – – 357

Shares issued to employees 18 145 – – – 145

As at 30 June 2013 1,069,196 557 73,050 (485,737) 657,066

Company Note
Ordinary shares

$’000

Share based 
payment 

reserve
$’000

Retained  
earnings

$’000

Total
equity
$’000

As at 1 July 2011 – – – –

Loss for the year and total  
comprehensive income – – (3,337) (3,337)

Share based payments 21 – 200 – 200

Shares issued to Fairfax Digital Holdings  
NZ Limited 18 705,672 – – 705,672

Initial public offering 18 363,379 – – 363,379

As at 30 June 2012 1,069,051 200 (3,337) 1,065,914

Profit for the year and total  
comprehensive income – – 66,029 66,029

Dividends 19 – – (60,611) (60,611)

Supplementary dividends – – (5,390) (5,390)

Tax credit on supplementary dividends – – 5,390 5,390

Share based payments 21 – 357 – 357

Shares issued to employees 18 145 – – 145

As at 30 June 2013 1,069,196 557 2,081 1,071,834

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 30 June 2013
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The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Group

Note
2013

$’000
2012 

$’000

Cash flows from/(used in) operating activities

Receipts from customers (inclusive of GST) 183,544 164,850

Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of GST) (62,719) (56,467)

Cash transferred to Trust – (11,771)

Income tax paid (27,525) (25,598)

Interest received 1,864 1,062

Dividends received – 389

Net cash flows from operating activities 25 95,164 72,465

Cash flows from/(used in) investing activities

Proceeds from liquidation of AutoBase Limited 13 – 3,990

Payment for purchase of property, plant and equipment (3,490) (1,134)

Payment for purchase of intangibles (5,964) (3,212)

Loans to related parties – (11,532)

Purchase of AutoBase business 13 – (15,404)

Business acquisition 14 (3,327) –

Proceeds from disposal of business 14 350 –

Net cash flows (used in) investing activities (12,431) (27,292)

Cash flows used in financing activities

Dividends paid (66,000) (8,229)

Interest paid on borrowings (7,011) (3,821)

Net cash flows (used in) financing activities (73,011) (12,050)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 9,722 33,123

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 39,135 6,012

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 48,857 39,135

 
 

Company Note

There are no cash flows for the Company 25

Statement of cash flows for the year ended 30 June 2013
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1 | General information

Trade Me Group Limited (the “Company”) is a company 
incorporated and domiciled in New Zealand, registered under 
the Companies Act 1993 and listed on the New Zealand Stock 
Exchange (“NZX”) and the Australian Stock Exchange (“ASX”). 
The address of its registered office and primary place of 
business is Level 3, NZX Centre, 11 Cable Street, Wellington, 
New Zealand.

Financial statements for the Company (separate financial 
statements) and consolidated financial statements are 
presented. The consolidated financial statements of the 
Company as at and for the year ended 30 June 2013 
comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together 
referred to as the “Group”).

The nature of the operations and principal activities of the 
Company are to operate and manage all Trade Me websites 
including online marketplace, classified advertising, travel, 
holiday accommodation and online dating.

2 | Summary of significant accounting policies

2.1 Statement of compliance

The financial statements comply with New Zealand equivalents 
to International Financial Reporting Standards (“NZ IFRS”) and 
other applicable Financial Reporting Standards, as appropriate 
for profit oriented entities.

The financial statements also comply with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the 
Board of Directors on 20 August 2013.

2.2 Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with New Zealand Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 
(“GAAP”) and the requirements of the Companies Act 1993 
and the Financial Reporting Act 1993. The Group financial 
statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, 
except for derivative financial instruments, which have been 
measured at fair value.

The financial statements are presented in New Zealand 
dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand 
dollars ($’000).

2.3 Critical accounting judgements and key sources 
of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, 
management are required to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The 
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical 
experience and other factors that are considered to be 
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on 
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the 
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision 
and future periods if the revision affects both current and 
future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

Group reorganisation

In the comparative period the Company acquired 100% of 
the Trade Me Limited share capital from Fairfax New Zealand 
Holdings Limited (FNZHL), via two intermediary holding 
companies. The reorganisation resulted in the new legal parent 
Trade Me Group Limited (formed on 13 October 2011) wholly 
owning Trade Me Limited, the continuing economic entity.

To reflect the substance of the reorganisation the consolidated 
financial statements have been prepared as a continuation 
of Trade Me Limited, as accounted for by its previous holding 
company FNZHL and adjusted for the impact of the initial 
public offer of the Company on the New Zealand and 
Australian stock exchanges in December 2011, using the book 
value method of accounting.

The book value method of accounting involves:

 • in the comparative period, the recognition of the book 
value of the business assets and liabilities, including 
goodwill and intangible assets as reported in the 
consolidated financial statements of FNZHL;

 • the transfer of the Trade Me Limited share capital to other 
reserves in the comparative period to reflect the legal share 
capital of the Company prior to the initial public offer;

 • no new goodwill recognised as a result of the 
combination; and

 • no adjustments to reflect fair value.

The difference between the existing book values as previously 
reported by FNZHL and the purchase price for the acquisition 
of Trade Me Limited resulted in a debit adjustment on 
consolidation to other reserves of $485.7 million.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Impairment testing of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an 
estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating 
units to which goodwill has been allocated. This requires 
management to estimate the future cash flows expected to 
arise from the Group’s cash-generating units and a suitable 
discount rate. The assumptions used in this estimation are 
discussed in note 11.

2.4 Functional and presentation currency

Both the functional and presentation currency of the Company 
is New Zealand Dollars ($). Transactions in foreign currencies 
are initially recorded in the functional currency by applying the 
exchange rates ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are re-

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013



 TRADE ME GROUP ANNUAL REPORT 2013 53

translated at the exchange rate at balance date. Non-monetary 
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rate as at the date 
of the initial transaction.

2.5 Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial 
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the 
Company (its subsidiaries) as at the reporting date. Control 
is achieved where the Company has the power to govern 
the financial and operating policies of another entity so as to 
obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the 
year are included in profit or loss from the effective date of 
acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses 
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Investments in subsidiaries are recorded at cost less any 
impairment in the Company’s separate financial statements.

2.6 Business combinations and goodwill

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the 
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a 
business combination is measured at fair value, which is 
calculated as the sum of the acquisition date fair values of 
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the 
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity 
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the 
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the 
Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. 
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not 
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent 
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent 
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is 
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance 
with NZ IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement, or NZ IAS 37 – Provisions, Contingent Liabilities 
and Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the corresponding 
gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the 
sum of the consideration transferred and the amount of any 
non-controlling interest in the acquiree over the net identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the 
assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration 
transferred, the gain is recognised in profit or loss.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost 
less accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose 
of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business 
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of 
the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit 
from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or 
liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit 
and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the 

goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in 
the carrying amount of the operation when determining the 
gain or loss on disposal.

2.7 Investments in associates

Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity 
method of accounting. Associates are entities over which 
the Company has significant influence and that are neither 
subsidiaries nor joint ventures.

Under the equity method, investments in associates are carried 
at cost plus post acquisition changes in the Group’s share of 
net assets of the associates. Goodwill relating to an associate 
is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is 
not amortised.

The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits 
or losses is recognised in profit or loss and its share of 
post-acquisition reserve movements is recognised in other 
comprehensive income. The cumulative post-acquisition 
movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the 
investment. Dividends receivable from associates are not 
recognised in profit or loss, but instead are recorded as a 
reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines 
whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss 
with respect to the Group’s net investment in associates. The 
Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any 
objective evidence that the investment is impaired. If this is the 
case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the 
difference between the recoverable amount of the associate 
and its carrying value and recognises the amount in the “share 
of profit from associate” in profit or loss.

2.8 Revenue recognition and prepaid commissions

Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable to the extent that it is 
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group 
and the amount of the revenue can be reliably measured.

Member income

Income from members is recognised when either:

 • members have their prepay accounts charged for using 
Trade Me services;

 • members forfeit prepaid balances on the closing of accounts;

 • manual processing fees are charged to members 
obtaining refunds of prepay accounts; or

 • other fees are charged to members in accordance with 
Trade Me terms and conditions.

The Group operates member prepay accounts, where members 
deposit funds on account for future use of Trade Me services. 
Member funds are held on trust on behalf of members and 
consequently the cash held and related prepaid member liability 
are not reported in the Group’s statement of financial position.
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Other service income

The Group recognises income relating to online services 
provided to commercial clients in motors, property, jobs, 
advertising, travel and group buying at the point at which the 
service is delivered.

Finance income

Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the 
effective interest method.

Dividends

Dividends received from the Company’s subsidiaries are 
recognised in the Company’s separate financial statements 
when the right to receive payment is established.

2.9 Interest bearing liabilities

Interest bearing loans and borrowings are initially measured 
at fair value, less directly attributable transaction costs. After 
initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. Loans and borrowings are classified as 
current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right 
to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after 
the reporting date.

2.10 Finance costs

Finance costs consist of interest and other costs incurred 
in connection with the borrowing of funds. Finance costs 
are expensed in the period in which they occur, other than 
associated transaction costs, which are capitalised and 
amortised over the term of the facility to which they relate.

2.11 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial 
position and statement of cash flows comprise cash at bank 
and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three 
months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts 
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value. Short term deposits with an original maturity 
of greater than three months are also included within cash and 
cash equivalents if the term deposit can be terminated at an 
earlier date, without incurring penalties.

2.12 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value 
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less an allowance for impairment. 
Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an on-going 
basis and a provision for doubtful debts is made when there is 
objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect 
the receivable. Financial difficulties of the debtor, or amounts 
significantly overdue are considered objective evidence of 
impairment.

2.13 Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with 
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. After initial measurement, loans and receivables 
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, less any impairment.

2.14 Derivative financial instruments

The group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge 
its risks associated with foreign currency and interest rate 
fluctuations. Such derivative financial instruments are initially 
recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative 
contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at 
fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when their fair value 
is positive and as liabilities when their fair value is negative.

2.15 Goods and Service Tax (“GST”)

The financial statements have been prepared so that all 
components are stated exclusive of GST, except:

 • when the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and 
services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in 
which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of an asset or as part of the expense item as 
applicable; and

 • trade receivables and payables, which include GST invoiced.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, 
the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or 
payables in the statement of financial position. GST paid to the 
taxation authority is included within payments to suppliers and 
employees in the statement of cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of 
the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to the 
taxation authority.

2.16 Income tax

The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax 
payable on the current period’s taxable income adjusted by 
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributed to 
temporary differences between the tax base of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount 
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation 
authorities based on the current period’s taxable income. The 
tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those 
that are enacted or substantively enacted at balance date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary 
differences at the balance date between the tax base of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial 
reporting purposes.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if 
the temporary difference arises from goodwill.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible 
temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax credits and 
unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
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profit will be available against which the deductible temporary 
differences, and carry-forward of unused tax credits and 
unused tax losses can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed 
at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to 
allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the 
tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset 
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and 
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at 
balance date.

2.17 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is initially recorded at cost, 
including costs directly attributable to bring the asset to its 
working condition, less accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses. Any expenditure that increases 
the economic benefits derived from the asset is capitalised. 
Expenditure on repairs and maintenance that does not increase 
the economic benefits is expensed in the period it occurs.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful life of the specific assets. 

Major depreciation categories are as follows:

 • Plant and equipment 8% – 21%

 • Computer equipment 20% – 40%

 • Motor vehicles 21%

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation 
methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate at each 
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised 
upon disposal or when no further future economic benefits are 
expected from its use or disposal. When an item of property, 
plant and equipment is disposed of, the difference between 
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is recognised 
in profit or loss.

2.18 Other intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are reported at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and 
recognised separately from goodwill are initially recognised 
at their fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business 
combination are reported at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same 
basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

Other intangible assets include brands, software, web-site 
development costs and customer relationships.

Acquired software licenses and costs directly incurred in 
purchasing or developing computer software are capitalised 
as intangible assets when it is probable that they will generate 

future economic benefits for the Group. Website development 
costs include external costs, and wages and overheads that are 
directly attributable to the website development.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either 
finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised on a straight 
line basis over the estimated useful life of the specific assets 
as follows:

 • Website development costs 20% – 40%

 • Software 20% – 40%

 • Customer relationships 20%

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for 
impairment as outlined in note 2.19 below.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no 
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. 
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible 
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset are recognised 
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

2.19 Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the 
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets 
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, 
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to 
determine the extent of the impairment loss. When it is not 
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual 
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are 
tested for impairment annually, and whenever there is an 
indication that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to 
sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have 
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit 
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to 
its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised in 
profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued 
amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a 
revaluation decrease.

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is an indication 
that previously recognised impairment losses no longer exist 
or have decreased. When an impairment loss subsequently 
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating 
unit is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable 
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amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined 
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset or 
cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an impairment 
loss is recognised in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset 
is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal 
of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase. 
Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in 
future periods.

2.20 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost and 
due to their short term nature they are not discounted. They 
represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the 
Group prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid 
and arise when the Group becomes obliged to make future 
payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and 
services. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid 
within 30 days of recognition.

2.21 Employee entitlements

Liabilities for wages, salaries and annual leave are recognised 
in the provision for employee benefits and measured at the 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The 
employee benefit liability expected to be settled within twelve 
months from balance date is recognised in current liabilities.

2.22 Share based payments

Certain employees of the Group receive remuneration in the 
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render 
services as consideration for equity instruments (equity-settled 
transactions).

Equity settled employee share plans

The cost of equity settled transactions with employees is 
measured by reference to the fair value at the date on which they 
are granted, and determined using an appropriate pricing model.

The cost is recognised, together with a corresponding increase 
in equity, over the period in which the performance and/or 
service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense at 
each reporting date until vesting date reflects the extent to 
which the vesting period has expired and the best estimate 
of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately 
vest. The income statement expense or credit for a period 
represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised 
as at the beginning and end of that period and is recognised in 
employee benefit expense.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately 
vest, except for equity-settled transactions for which vesting 
is conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition. These 
are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market 
or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other 
performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

2.23 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable 

that a future sacrifice of economic benefits will be required and 
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s 
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present 
obligation at balance date using a discounted cash flow 
methodology. The increase in the liability as a result of the 
passage of time is recognised in finance costs.

2.24 Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains 
a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at 
inception date, whether the fulfilment of the arrangement 
is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or the 
arrangement conveys the right to use the asset, even if that 
right is not explicitly specified in an arrangement.

Operating leases 

Where the Group is the lessee, leases where the lessor 
retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of 
assets are classified as operating leases. Net rental payments, 
excluding contingent payments, are recognised as an expense 
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the 
lease. Operating lease incentives are recognised as a liability 
when received and subsequently reduced by an offset to rental 
expense and a corresponding reduction to the lease liability.

2.25 Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a Group entity are 
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance 
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the 
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument. 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs 
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are 
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.26 Operating segments

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with 
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision 
maker. The chief operating decision maker responsible for 
allocating resources and assessing performance of operating 
segments is the Chief Executive Officer.

2.27 Non-GAAP reporting measures

Additional reporting measures have been presented in the 
statement of comprehensive income or referenced to in the 
notes to the financial statements. The following non-GAAP 
measures are relevant to the understanding of the Group 
financial performance:

 • EBIT represents earnings before income taxes (a GAAP 
measure), excluding interest income and expense, as 
reported in the financial statements.

 • EBITDA represents earnings before income taxes 
(a GAAP measure), excluding interest income, interest 
expense, depreciation and amortisation, as reported in 
the financial statements.
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3 | New standards, amendments and interpretations

Adoption of new and revised standards, amendments and interpretations

The standards, amendments and interpretations listed below that are applicable to the Group became mandatory in the current year.

 • Amendments to NZ IAS 12 Income Tax

 • Amendments to NZ IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

The adoptions of these new and revised standards, amendments and interpretations do not have a material impact on the results 
or position reported by the Group.

Standards, amendments and interpretations, not yet effective in the current period

The following are the new or revised standards, amendments and interpretations applicable to the Group which are issued but are 
not yet required to be adopted by the Group and have not been applied by the Group in preparing its financial statements for the 
year ending 30 June 2013:

Standard/Interpretation

Effective for annual 
reporting periods 

beginning on or after

Expected to be initially 
applied in the financial 

year ending

NZ IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ 1 January 2015 30 June 2016

NZ IFRS 10 ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’ 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

NZ IFRS 11 ‘Joint Arrangements’ 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

NZ IFRS 12 ‘Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities’ 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

NZ IFRS 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’ 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

Amendments to NZ IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’ 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

NZ IAS 27 ‘Separate Financial Statements’ (revised 2011) 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

NZ IAS 28 ‘Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures’ (revised 2011) 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

Improvements to IFRS:2009 – 2011 cycle 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

Amendments to NZ IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments’ 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

Amendments to NZ IAS 32 ‘Financial Instruments Presentation’ 1 January 2014 30 June 2015

The new standards are not expected to significantly impact the Group.
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4 | Segment reporting           

(a) Identification of reportable segments     

The group has determined its operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Group’s Chief Executive Officer to assess 
performance, allocate resources and make strategic decisions. The reportable segments are based on aggregating operating 
segments based on the similarity of the services provided.

The Group’s reportable segments are as follows:

General items

The General items segment is our on-line marketplace business. Revenue is generated from listing fees, premium fees and success 
fees and performance is driven by both the number of completed transactions and the total sales value of completed transactions.

Classifieds

The classifieds segment represents advertising revenue from each of our three classified advertising sites: Motors, Property and 
Jobs. Revenue is generated primarily from basic and premium listing fees.

Other

The other segment reflects all other businesses, including advertising, travel, on-line dating, Pay Now and Treat Me (now discontinued).

Segment revenue and EBITDA are reported in these financial statements as this is reflective of the information the Chief Executive 
Officer receives on a monthly basis for each of the operating segments. In the comparative period, segment EBITDA was 
not reported to the Chief Executive Officer and consequently was not reported in the previous year’s financial statements. 
Segment EBITDA for the comparative period has not been determined retrospectively as the cost and effort required to do 
so is considered excessive.

(b) Segment revenues, EBITDA and reconciliation to overall result

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and EBITDA from continuing operations by reportable segment.

*EBITDA (a non-GAAP measure) as defined in the accounting policies to these financial statements note 2.27.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 2.

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated from external customers. There was no inter-segment revenue in 
the current period (2012: nil).

(c) Segment assets and liabilities     

The assets and liabilities of the Group are reported to and reviewed by the Chief Executive Officer in total and are not allocated by 
operating segment. Therefore, operating segment assets and liabilities are not disclosed.

Operating segments

Revenue  
2013

$’000

Revenue 
2012

$’000

Segment 
EBITDA* 

2013 
$’000

General items 65,496 62,408 51,910

Classifieds 69,708 53,904 55,962

Other 28,910 26,146 15,590

Total for continuing operations 164,114 142,458 123,462

Reconciliation to overall result

Depreciation and amortisation (8,735)

Finance income 1,926

Finance costs (7,185)

Profit before income tax 109,468
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Group Company

2013 
$’000 

2012 
$’000

2013 
$’000

2012 
$’000

Dividend revenue – – (72,786) (687)

(Gain)/loss on disposal of plant and equipment (389) 2 – –

(Gain) on disposal of business (501) – – –

Donations 64 76 – –

Net foreign exchange losses – 10 – –

Operating lease expenditure including rent 1,362 972 – –

Remuneration to the auditors included

Audit of annual financial statements 105 98

Review of interim (half year) financial statements 42 41

Preparation of greenhouse gas emissions reporting (‘CarboNZero’) 7 7

Tax advisory – 2

Total remuneration paid or payable to EY 154 148

6 | Finance income

Group

Note
2013 

$’000
2012 

$’000

Other interest income 1,926 853

Interest on loans to related parties 23 – 476

Total finance income 1,926 1,329

(d) Other information

Geographical

The Group operates within New Zealand, and derived no material revenue from foreign countries for the year ended 30 June 2013 or the 
prior year ended 30 June 2012.

Information about major customers

No single customer contributed 10% or more to the Group’s revenue for the year ended 30 June 2013 (2012: nil).

5 | Other revenue and expenses include
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7 | Trade and other receivables

Group Company

Note
2013 

$’000
2012

$’000
2013 

$’000
2012 

$’000

Current assets

Trade receivables 5,912 3,963 – –

Provision for doubtful debts (131) (122) – –

Prepayments 590 174 – –

Accrued revenue 2,237 396 – –

Amounts due from related parties 23 – 899 2,436 –

Loans receivable 24 396 – – –

9,004 5,310 2,436 –

Ageing of past due impaired and not impaired trade receivables

0–30 days 4,748 3,678

31–60 days 660 131

31–60 days (considered impaired) 7 1

61–90 days (past due but not impaired) 282 32

61–90 days (considered impaired) 9 1

> 90 days (past due but not impaired) 91 –

> 90 days (considered impaired) 115 120

5,912 3,963

Non-current assets

Loans receivable 24 814 –

814 –
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Group Company

Interest rate swaps
2013 

$’000
2012  

$’000
2013 

$’000
2012 

$’000

Current portion (24) – (24) –

Non-current portion 78 – 78 –

Total derivative financial instruments 54 – 54 –

8 | Derivative financial instruments

9 | Property, plant and equipment

Group

Motor 
vehicles 

$’000

Computer 
equipment 

$’000

Plant and 
equipment 

$’000
Total 

$’000

Gross carrying amount

Balance at 1 July 2011 132 10,214 1,034 11,380

Additions 13 2,240 409 2,662

Acquisition as part of business combination – 39 18 57

Disposals – – (9) (9)

Balance at 30 June 2012 145 12,493 1,452 14,090

Additions 10 3,461 478 3,949

Acquisition as part of business combination – 39 19 58

Disposals (77) (1,099) (43) (1,219)

Balance at 30 June 2013 78 14,894 1,906 16,878

Accumulated depreciation

Balance at 1 July 2011 (41) (6,730) (528) (7,299)

Disposals – – 4 4

Depreciation expense (27) (2,297) (129) (2,453)

Balance at 30 June 2012 (68) (9,027) (653) (9,748)

Disposals 39 1,026 41 1,106

Depreciation expense (26) (2,567) (194) (2,787)

Balance at 30 June 2013 (55) (10,568) (806) (11,429)

Net book value

Balance at 30 June 2012 77 3,466 799 4,342

Balance at 30 June 2013 23 4,326 1,100 5,449
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Group Note
Brand
$’000

Software
$’000

Development 
costs
$’000

Other
$’000

Total
$’000

Gross carrying amount

Balance at 1 July 2011 32,691 2,237 4,960 376 40,264

Additions – 446 2,766 – 3,212

Acquisition as part of business combination – 7,200 – – 7,200

Disposals – – (1,766) – (1,766)

Balance at 30 June 2012 32,691 9,883 5,960 376 48,910

Additions 5 865 5,174 – 6,044

Acquisition as part of business combination 14 – 2,157 18 – 2,175

Disposals – (75) (3,225) – (3,300)

Balance at 30 June 2013 32,696 12,830 7,927 376 53,829

Accumulated amortisation

Balance at 1 July 2011 – (1,423) (2,776) (90) (4,289)

Disposals – – 1,766 – 1,766

Amortisation expense – (847) (1,773) (92) (2,712)

Balance at 30 June 2012 – (2,270) (2,783) (182) (5,235)

Disposals – – 3,026 – 3,026

Amortisation expense – (4,109) (1,760) (79) (5,948)

Balance at 30 June 2013 – (6,379) (1,517) (261) (8,157)

Net book value

Balance at 30 June 2012 32,691 7,613 3,177 194 43,675

Balance at 30 June 2013 32,696 6,451 6,410 115 45,672

10 | Other intangible assets
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11 | Goodwill

Group Note

Gross carrying amount $’000

Balance at 1 July 2011 721,561

Acquisition as part of business combination 8,163

Balance at 30 June 2012 729,724

Additions 14 1,469

Disposals 14 (490)

Balance at 30 June 2013 730,703

There is no accumulated impairment at 30 June 2013 (2012: nil).

Brand is not separately allocated to cash generating units.

11.2 Impairment testing

Goodwill

Goodwill has been tested for impairment as at 30 June 2013.

The recoverable amount for the ‘General items’, ‘Classifieds’ and ‘Other’ cash-generating units is determined based on value in 
use calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections based on the 2014 financial budgets approved by the directors 
extrapolated over a four-year period, and discount rates of between 13% – 17% per annum. Management has also considered the 
Group’s market capitalisation when performing the impairment assessment.

The calculations which are applied consistently against the ‘General items’, ‘Classifieds’ and ‘Other’ cash-generating units, 
confirmed that there was no impairment of goodwill or brand during the year (2012: nil). Management believes that any reasonable 
possible change in the key assumptions including an increase in the discount rate applied or reduction in future growth rates, 
would not cause the carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount.

Brand

The continued increase in member numbers and transactions through the various Trade Me websites supports the assumption that 
the brand has an indefinite useful life.

11.1 Allocation of goodwill and brand to cash-generating units     

Management reviews the business performance for three reportable segments (refer note 4), being separately identifiable groups 
of cash generating units. The following is a summary of the goodwill allocation to each cash generating unit:

Cash generating unit
2013 

$’000
2012 

$’000

General items 295,663 295,663

Classifieds 355,806 355,806

Other 79,234 78,255

730,703 729,724
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Ownership interests and voting rights

Name of subsidiary Principal activity
Place of 
incorporation 2013 2012

Trade Me Limited Operate and 
manage all 
Trade Me websites

New Zealand 100% 100%

Old Friends Limited Non-trading New Zealand 100% 100%

Trade Me Comparisons Limited Non-trading New Zealand 100% n/a

TMG Trustee Limited Non-trading New Zealand 100% n/a

12 | Subsidiaries

13 | Associates           

Until April 2012, the Group had a 25.4% interest in an associate investment, AutoBase Limited. On 30 April 2012, the Group 
acquired the assets and liabilities constituting the business of AutoBase for $15.4 million and following the acquisition, AutoBase 
Limited was put into voluntary liquidation, with the net proceeds distributed to shareholders. This meant that in the comparative 
period, the Group recognised $0.5 million share of profit from associate, and $3.3 million gain from remeasuring the investment to 
fair value at the date of the business combination.
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Entity from which business was acquired Principal activity Acquisition date Interest

Tradevine Limited
Online e-commerce management 
and administration tool

27 August 2012 100%

Baches and Holiday Homes to Rent Limited Holiday accommodation classifieds 18 December 2012 100%

Assets and liabilities acquired at the date of acquisition
2013 

$’000

Software 2,157

Other 18

Goodwill* 1,469

Revenue in advance (265)

Other liabilities (52)

Total identifiable net assets and liabilities attributable to the Group 3,327

Satisfied by:

Cash paid on acquisition dates 3,327

14 | Acquisitions and disposals      

14.1 Acquisitions       

The Company gained control over the following businesses during the year. 

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired for the acquisitions above, none of which were individually 
significant to the Group, were: 

*Goodwill of $1.5 million includes synergies expected to be achieved as a result of combining the acquired businesses with the 
rest of the Company. The acquired work forces and future growth opportunities are also key factors contributing to the goodwill 
acquired during the reporting period. None of the goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income includes immaterial revenue and net profit for the year ended 30 June 2013, 
as a result of acquisitions of business combinations made during the reporting period. Had the acquisitions occurred at the 
beginning of the reporting period, the consolidated income statement would have had no material change to revenue and profit 
for the period.

Acquisition related costs were immaterial.

14.2 Disposals

On 24 April 2013 the Group sold the assets and liabilities which constitute the online group buying business trading as Treat Me. 
Consideration received included cash and secured vendor financing. The transaction is not significant and had no material impact 
on these financial statements.  
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Group Company

Note
2013 

$’000
2012 

$’000
2013 

$’000
2012 

$’000

Trade payables 3,155 2,680 – –

Related party payable 23 – 203 – 3,789

Accrued expenses 5,685 4,405 420 361

Revenue in advance 1,685 1,366 – –

Employee entitlements 997 995 – 124

11,522 9,649 420 4,274

Group Company

2013 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2013 
$’000

2012 
$’000

Committed cash advance facility 166,000 166,000 166,000 166,000

Deferred funding costs (142) (242) (142) (242)

165,858 165,758 165,858 165,758

 
The Commonwealth Bank of Australia has provided a $200 million committed cash advance loan facility to the Company. 
The maturity date of the facility is 13 December 2014.

The interest rate is re-set every 90 days (refer note 24).

The facility is guaranteed by the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary Trade Me Limited. The covenants entered into by the 
Group require specific calculations of the Group’s net debt to earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation, and 
interest cover.

There have been no covenant breaches.

15 | Trade and other payables

16 | Interest bearing loans and borrowings 
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17.1 Income tax recognised in profit or loss

Group Company

2013 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2013 
$’000

2012 
$’000

Tax expense comprises:

Current tax charge/(credit) 30,923 27,572 (1,892) (1,185)

Deferred tax relating to the origination and reversal of  
temporary differences

(51) (635) 1,892 1,185

Total tax charge 30,872 26,937 – –

The prima facie income tax expense on pre-tax accounting profit reconciles to the income tax expense in the financial 
statements as follows: 

Profit/(loss) from operations 109,468 102,529 66,029 (3,337)

Income tax expense/(credit) calculated at 28% 30,651 28,708 18,488 (934)

Non-deductible expenses 165 98 – 33

Non-assessable income – (1,074) (20,380) (192)

Other 56 (795) 1,892 1,093

30,872 26,937 – –

17 | Tax

17.2 Current tax assets and liabilities 

Group
2013 

$’000
2012 

$’000

Tax payable 6,953 8,944

6,953 8,944
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Group Company

2013 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2013 
$’000

2012 
$’000

Imputation credits available for use in subsequent periods 6,983 17,953 – –

17.3 Deferred tax balances 
 

Group 2013

Opening 
balance 

$’000

Charged to 
profit or loss 

$’000

Closing 
balance 

$’000

Doubtful debts 72 (35) 37

Revenue in advance 177 42 219

Other 575 44 619

Total deferred tax assets 824 51 875

Group 2012

Opening 
balance 

$’000

Charged to 
profit or loss 

$’000

Closing 
balance 

$’000

Doubtful debts 26 46 72

Revenue in advance 272 (95) 177

Other 391 184 575

Total deferred tax assets 689 135 824

Other (500) 500 –

Total deferred tax liabilities (500) 500 –

Net deferred tax 189 635 824

Company

There is an unrecognised deferred tax asset for the Company of $1.9 million consisting of tax losses which will be surrendered to the 
tax group for nil consideration. (2012: $1.2 million)

17.4 Imputation credit account
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Group Company

2013 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2013 
$’000

2012 
$’000

Balance at beginning of period 1,069,051 – 1,069,051 –

Ordinary shares issued during the period 145 1,069,051 145 1,069,051

Balance at end of the period 1,069,196 1,069,051 1,069,196 1,069,051

Group Company

Movement in ordinary shares on issue Note
2013 

000’s
2012 

000’s
2013 

000’s
2012 

000’s

Balance at beginning of period 396,000 – 396,000 –

Issue of ordinary shares 37 396,000 37 396,000

Issue of restricted shares 21 274 – 274 –

Balance at the end of the period 396,311 396,000 396,311 396,000

 
On 13 December 2011, 396.0 million shares were issued via an initial public offer for a total value of $1,069.0 million.

All ordinary shares carry equal rights in respect of voting and the receipt of dividends. Ordinary shares have no par value. 
Restricted shares are the same as ordinary shares except that they cannot be sold until they vest and convert to ordinary shares.

2013  
$’000

2012 
$’000

Fully imputed dividend on Trade Me Limited ordinary shares: $206.44 per share 40,200

Fully imputed dividends on Trade Me Group Limited ordinary shares:

Final dividend for 2012 at 7.8 cents per share 30,888

Interim dividend for 2013 at 7.5 cents per share 29,723

Dividends declared and proposed after reporting date, but not recorded as a liability in these 
financial statements: 8.3 cents per share

32,894

18 | Contributed equity

19 | Dividends paid and proposed 
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Payment plan reference Grant date Number granted
Weighted average 

issue price
Weighted average 

fair value Vesting date

Post IPO plan 13-Dec-11 292,986 $2.70 $2.03 31-Dec-13

Payment plan reference Grant date Number granted
Weighted average 

issue price
Weighted average 

fair value Vesting date

FY 13 plan (tranche 1) 1-Oct-12 58,880 $3.97 $2.14 30-Sep-14

FY 13 plan (tranche 2) 1-Oct-12 176,638 $3.97 $2.14 30-Sep-15

21 | Share based payment plans      

The Company grants restricted shares with a typical vesting period of three years to management, but this vesting period may 
vary where the restricted shares are awarded to retain an employee for a critical period. The restricted shares have all the rights 
attached to ordinary shares (including the right to dividends), but may be redeemed by the Company if the qualification criteria are 
not met.

The following table shows the number of restricted shares granted, the weighted average issue price, the weighted average fair 
value, and the qualification criteria for reclassification of the restricted shares into ordinary shares as follows:

Vesting criteria:

The Group achieves an EBITDA of $110.9 million during the period commencing 1 January 2012 and ended 31 December 2012, 
and the participant remains in continuous employment with Trade Me until 31 December 2013.

Group

Year Ended 2013 
$’000

Year Ended 2012 
$’000

Short-term benefits 2,778 1,965

Share-based payments 342 131

Total compensation 3,120 2,096

20 | Compensation of key management personnel 

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year was as follows:
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Vesting criteria: Two performance hurdles described below will be used before vesting occurs:

Hurdle 1 – Will apply to 50% of the shares in each tranche

If the Group’s total shareholder return (representing dividend per share plus increase in share price divided by initial share price) 
is in the top quartile of companies in the NZX 50 Index (the Index) over the vesting period to 30 September 2014/15, then 100% 
of shares will vest. For performance between the median and top quartile, vesting will occur on a straight-line basis so that 50% 
of the shares vest for median performance and 100% vesting occurs for top quartile performance. No shares will vest if the total 
shareholder return is below the median in the Index or the participant is not in continuous employment at the vesting date.

Hurdle 2 – Will apply to 50% of the shares in each tranche

If the growth rate of the Group’s Earnings Per Share equals or exceeds a compound annual rate over the 2 or 3 financial years 
ending on 30 June prior to the end of the vesting period of 12% per annum, then 100% of the shares will vest. For performance 
between 8% and 12% per annum, vesting will occur on a straight-line basis so that 50% of the shares vest for performance at 
8%, and full vesting occurs for performance at 12%. No shares will vest if the performance return is below 8% per annum or the 
participant is not in continuous employment at the vesting date.

The Group expense recognised in the current period was $0.7 million (2012: $0.3 million), with a corresponding liability for PAYE 
of $0.3 million (2012: $0.1 million) and an increase in equity of $0.4 million (2012: $0.2 million).

There have been no cancellations or modifications to the plans during 2013 and 2012.

Group

2013 2012

Earnings used for the calculation of basic and diluted earnings ($’000): 78,596 75,592

Weighted average number of shares on issue (000’s) 396,232 395,746

Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents) 19.84 19.10

22 | Earnings per share      

The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share are  
as follows:

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the Group profit for the year by the weighted average number of ordinary and 
restricted shares outstanding during the year. For the prior period, only shares on issue as at 30 June 2012 were used for the 
calculation as there were no shares on issue at 1 July 2011.

Diluted earnings per share equals basic earnings per share, since there are no potentially dilutive ordinary shares.  
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Group Company

2013 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2013 
$’000

2012 
$’000

Fairfax Media Group Finance Pty Limited – 892 – –

Fairfax New Zealand Holdings Limited – (203) – –

Stayz Limited – 7 – –

Trade Me Limited – – 2,436 (3,789)

23 | Related party transactions      

The Company was a majority-owned subsidiary of Fairfax Digital Holdings NZ Limited until 21 December 2012. The ultimate parent 
of the Company was Fairfax Media Limited, which is a company domiciled in Australia and listed on the Australian Stock Exchange. 
On 21 December 2012 Fairfax Media sold its remaining shares in the Company to a number of individual shareholders, and is no 
longer a controlling shareholder. 

The following significant transactions occurred between the Group and subsidiaries of Fairfax Media Limited during the prior year 
ended 30 June 2012:       

Pre-restructure transactions      
 • Trade Me Limited declared and paid a dividend of $40.2 million to Fairfax New Zealand Holdings Limited prior to the IPO of 

shares in Trade Me Group Limited.

 • Trade Me Limited provided net treasury funding of $10.8 million to Fairfax Media Group Finance Pty Limited during the period.

 • Trade Me Limited repaid $9.3 million owing to Fairfax New Zealand Limited for the utilisation of tax losses for the 2010 tax 
year. Trade Me Limited paid Fairfax New Zealand Limited and Fairfax New Zealand Holdings Limited a combined total of 
$9.4 million for utilisation of tax losses for the 2011 tax year.

Restructure transactions      
 • The Company acquired Trade Me Limited from Fairfax New Zealand Holdings Limited via two intermediary holding companies 

for total consideration of $1,235.7 million. Consideration of $420.4 million was paid to Fairfax Digital Assets NZ Limited, and 
consideration of $815.3 million was provided to Fairfax Digital Holdings NZ Limited comprising $109.6 million cash and 
$261.4 million shares at $2.70 per share.

 • All IPO costs were borne by Fairfax Media Limited.

Significant balances owing from/(due to) related parties at period end are as follows:

Provision of services Purchase of services

Group
2013 

$’000
2012 

$’000
2013 

$’000
2012 

$’000

Fairfax Media Group Finance Pty Limited – 476 – –

Fairfax New Zealand Limited 290 660 (80) (184)

Stayz Limited 44 81 –

AutoBase Limited – 2,702 – –

During the year, group entities entered into the following trading transactions with related parties that are not members of  
the Group: 
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Transactions with the Fairfax Media Group are only included until the date Fairfax ceased to be a shareholder of the group.

The provision of services to related parties were made at the Group’s usual list prices, less average discounts of 5%. Purchases 
were made at market price discounted to reflect the quantity of goods purchased and the relationships between the parties.

The amounts outstanding are unsecured, on normal trade terms and will be settled in cash. No guarantees have been given or 
received. No expense or provision has been recognised in the period for bad or doubtful debts in respect of the amounts owed 
by related parties.

Fairfax New Zealand Limited provided advertising services to the Group and the Group provided advertising services to 
Fairfax New Zealand Limited.

In the prior year, the Group received commission fees and dividends from AutoBase Limited. 

The prior year transactions with AutoBase Limited exclude the purchase of assets and liabilities, and the proceeds from liquidation 
as referred to in note 13.

The Group provided licenses to Stayz Limited a subsidiary within the Fairfax group, for the use of the booking engine 
software “BookIt”.

Key management personnel costs have been separately disclosed at note 20. Other than normal fees charged to management 
and staff for the use of online Trade Me services, there were no other transactions or balances outstanding for the year ended 
30 June 2013. 

All operating and administrative costs for the Company are borne by Trade Me Limited. The Company’s interest costs and 
dividend payments are paid by Trade Me Limited. The liability for these payments is settled through the declaration of dividends 
from Trade Me Limited to the Company.

24 | Financial instruments

Capital management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group are able to continue as going concerns while seeking a 
balance between maximising the return to shareholders in the long term and maintaining sufficient cash reserves to captialise on 
investment opportunities.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt (borrowings offset by cash and cash equivalents) and equity (comprising 
issued capital, reserves and retained earnings) of the Group.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of net debt to earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation.

Other than debt covenants (refer note 16) the Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

Financial risk management

The Group engages business in New Zealand and in the normal course of business is exposed to a variety of financial risk which 
includes market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group’s treasury policy recognises the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise the potential adverse effects 
of market movements. The management of these risks is performed in accordance with the treasury policy approved by the Board 
of Directors. This policy covers specific areas such as interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

Market risk

Interest rate risk

The Group’s primary interest rate risk arises from bank borrowings which are reset every 90 days to BKBM plus a margin. The 
Group’s treasury policy allows the use of derivative financial instruments to manage interest rate risk. In order to protect against 
rising interest rates the Group has entered into interest rate swap contracts under which it has a right to receive interest at floating 
rates and pay interest at fixed rates, where cumulative net settlement of interest is payable or receivable quarterly. Swaps in place 
cover $60 million (2012: nil) of the principal outstanding and mature over a three year period.
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Group Company

2013 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2013 
$’000

2012 
$’000

0–1 years 20,000 – 20,000 –

1–2 years 20,000 – 20,000 –

2–3 years 20,000 – 20,000 –

60,000 – 60,000 –

The notional principal amounts and period of expiry of the interest rate swap contracts are as follows:

2013 
$’000

2012 
$’000

Cash 48,857 39,135

Committed cash advance facility* (166,000) (166,000)

Loans receivable 1,210 –

Derivative financial instruments 54 –

At balance date the company had the following financial assets and liabilities exposed to New Zealand variable interest rate risk: 

*The interest rate is re-set every 90 days.         

If interest rates had moved by +/− 1%, with all other variables held constant, the Group profit before income tax for the year ended 
30 June 2013 would decrease / increase by $0.3 million (2012: $0.8 million). 
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30 June 2013 AA – and above 
$’000

Not rated 
$’000

Related party 
$’000

Cash and cash equivalents* 48,857 – –

Trade receivables – 5,781 –

Loans receivable – 1,210 –

30 June 2012 AA – and above 
$’000

Not rated 
$’000

Related party 
$’000

Cash and cash equivalents* 39,135 – –

Trade receivables – 3,841 899

*Cash and cash equivalents includes term deposits of $35 million (2012: $25 million).

The Group does not hold any credit derivatives to offset its credit risk exposure.

For bank and financial institutions only independently rated parties with a minimum long term Standard & Poor’s rating of AA- are 
accepted. The Group’s treasury policy also sets the maximum counterparty credit exposure to any individual bank or financial institution.

Trade and other receivables recognised in the statement of financial position consist of a large number of customers, and 
consequently there is no concentration of credit risk with respect to debtors.

The Group has a concentration of credit risk with its cash and cash equivalents, which are held with four banks.

The loans receivable are secured over a number of interests including shares, and other property.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has exposure to foreign currency risk from IT hardware purchases, technology support contracts that are billed in 
US dollars and other foreign domiciled service providers. The foreign currency risk arising from these transactions is not material.

Credit risk

Exposure to credit risk arises from the potential default of the counterparty, with the maximum exposure equal to the carrying 
amount of the financial assets. The Group’s credit risk arises from the Group’s financial assets, which include cash and cash 
equivalents, loans and trade and other receivables. 
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Group
Less than 6 Months 

$’000
6–12 Months 

$’000
1–3 Years 

$’000
Total 

$’000

2013

Trade and other payables 11,522 – 29 11,551

Borrowings 3,229 3,229 169,229 175,687

14,751 3,229 169,258 187,238

2012

Trade and other payables 9,649 – 80 9,729

Borrowings 3,294 3,294 175,881 182,469

12,943 3,294 175,961 192,198

Company Less than 6 Months 
$’000

6–12 Months 
$’000

1–3 Years 
$’000

Total 
$’000

2013

Trade and other payables 420 – – 420

Borrowings 3,229 3,229 169,229 175,687

3,649 3,229 169,229 176,107

2012

Trade and other payables 4,274 – – 4,274

Borrowings 3,294 3,294 175,881 182,469

7,568 3,294 175,881 186,743

Fair values       

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables, and borrowings is 
equivalent to the fair value of these assets and liabilities.       

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises from the financial liabilities of the Group and the Group’s subsequent ability to meet its obligation to repay its 
financial liabilities as and when they fall due.

The Group maintains sufficient cash and the availability of funding through undrawn facilities as part of its management of liquidity risk.

The following table details the Company and Group’s remaining contractual maturity of its financial liabilities. The tables have 
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Company and 
Group can be required to pay. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are at 
floating rates, the undiscounted cash flow are derived from the interest rate at 30 June. 
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Group
2013 

$’000
2012 

$’000

Net profit 78,596 75,592

Adjusted for non-cash and non-operating items:

Depreciation 2,787 2,453

Amortisation 5,948 2,712

Long term incentive expense 776 233

Amortisation of loan establishment fees 100 58

Doubtful debt expense 260 285

Interest classified as financing cash flow 7,085 –

Tax credit on supplementary dividend 5,390 –

(Profit)/loss on sale of property plant and equipment (890) 2

Derivatives (54) –

Other (182) 114

Changes in assets and liabilities:

(Increase)/decrease in receivables (2,210) (1,511)

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments (416) 177

(Increase)/decrease in accrued revenue (1,841) (106)

(Increase)/decrease in investment in associate – 546

(Increase)/decrease in amounts due from related parties 899 18,029

(Increase)/decrease in deferred tax asset (51) (635)

(Decrease)/increase in trade payables 475 67

(Decrease)/increase in employee entitlements (50) 298

(Decrease)/increase in GST 180 (79)

(Decrease)/increase in accrued liabilities 502 1,023

(Decrease)/increase in revenue in advance 54 116

(Decrease)/increase in prepaid commissions – (10,236)

(Decrease)/increase in related party payables (203) (9,309)

(Decrease)/increase in income tax payable (1,991) (7,364)

Cash flow from operating activities 95,164 72,465

25 | Reconciliation of net profit to cash flow from operations
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Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to non-cancellable operating leases are 
payable as follows:

2013 
$’000

2012 
$’000

Within one year 1,301 862

Later than one year but not later than five years 6,935 775

Later than five years 6,563 778

14,799 2,415

Company       

The Company does not operate a bank account, and consequently all operating costs of the Company are paid by Trade Me 
Limited. The liability for these payments is settled through the declaration of dividends from Trade Me Limited to the Company.  
The cash proceeds raised in the prior year from the initial public offer and debt facility were not received by the Company and 
instead were paid directly to entities within the wider Fairfax Group. Accordingly, there are no transactions included in 
the statement of cash flows. 

26 | Commitments 

(a)  Lease commitments 

(b) Capital commitments         

The Company and the Group has no capital commitments as at 30 June 2013 (2012: nil).

27 | Contingent liabilities

The Company and the Group has no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2013 (2012: nil).

28 | Events after the reporting period

On 20 August 2013, the directors declared a dividend of $32,894,000, which is not recorded as a liability in these 
financial statements.
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80 INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of Trade Me Group Limited

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the financial statements of Trade Me Group Limited and its subsidiaries on pages 48 to 78, 

which comprise the statement of financial position of Trade Me Group Limited and the group as at 30 June 2013, 

and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for 

the year then ended of the company and group, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 

explanatory information.

This report is made solely to the company’s shareholders, as a body, in accordance with section 205(1) of the 

Companies Act 1993. Our audit has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s shareholders those 

matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 

permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s 

shareholders as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting practice in New Zealand and that give a true and fair view of the matters to which they relate, and for 

such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit 

in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand). These auditing standards require that we 

comply with relevant ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 

whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

financial statements. The procedures selected, depend on our judgement, including the assessment of the risks of 

material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 

we have considered the internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial statements that  

give a true and fair view of the matters to which they relate in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 

in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s  

internal control.

Chartered Accountants

Independent auditor’s report
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An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe we have obtained sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Ernst & Young has provided other assurance related services to the group. We have no other relationship with, or 

interest in Trade Me Group Limited or any of its subsidiaries.

Partners and employees of our firm may deal with the group on normal terms within the ordinary course of trading 

activities of the business of the group.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements on pages 48 to 78:

 ► comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand;

 ► comply with International Financial Reporting Standards; and

 ► give a true and fair view of the financial position of Trade Me Group Limited and the group as at 30 June 2013 

and the financial performance and cash flows of the company and group for the year then ended.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with the Financial Reporting Act 1993, we report that:

 ► We have obtained all the information and explanations that we have required.

 ► In our opinion proper accounting records have been kept by Trade Me Group Limited as far as appears from 

our examination of those records.

20 August 2013 

Wellington
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Directory

www.trademe.co.nz

www.trademe.co.nz/jobs www.travelbug.co.nz

www.holidayhouses.co.nz www.oldfriends.co.nz

www.findsomeone.co.nz

www.bookit.co.nz

www.lifedirect.co.nz

www.trademe.co.nz/motors www.trademe.co.nz/property



Stock exchange listings
Trade Me Group Limited shares are 
listed on the NZ Stock Exchange and 
the Australian Stock Exchange (Listing 
code: TME)

Registered office
Trade Me Group Limited 
Level 3, NZX Centre 
11 Cable Street 
Wellington 6011 
New Zealand

Level 5, 1 Darling Island Road 
Pyrmont, NSW 2009 
Australia

NZ Company Number: 3590412 
ARBN: 154 115 723 
 
Investor information

Board of directors
•  David Edward Kirk (Chairman) 

•  Gail Iris Hambly 

•  Samuel Gareth Morgan 

•  Paul Milton McCarney 

•  Joanna Mary Gordon Perry

Auditor 
Ernst & Young 
100 Willis Street 
Wellington 6011 
New Zealand

Share registrar 

Link Market Services Limited 
Level 16, Brookfields House 
19 Victoria Street West 
Auckland 1010 
New Zealand

Shareholder enquiries
Changes of address, payment 
instructions and investment 
portfolios can be viewed and 
updated online:  
https://investorcentre.
linkmarketservices.co.nz/ 
Otherwise, please contact 
Link Market Services here:

New Zealand

0800 990 057 or (+64) 9 375 5998 
enquiries@linkmarketservices.com 

Australia

registrars@linkmarketservices.com.au

For other investor enquiries, please 
email: investors@trademe.co.nz 

investors.trademe.co.nz
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